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CEO 
FOREWORDS

As we well know, the year 2015 was depicted 
by unusual activities economically speaking. 
Saying that we have in mind the fiscal reforms, 
taxes adopted nationally and stock exchange 
fluctuations on the international grounds, all of 
them occurring at the same time. Despite all 
challenges and new horizons, the banking in-
dustry managed to maintain positive results in 
the country of Albania.

The overall loan increase was 2.3%, which rep-
resents a low trend also as a result of write off 
adjustment imposed by the Central Bank. A 
general low interest by businesses on all types 
of loans generated this outcome. From individu-
als we realized an improved situation, where 
consumer and mortgage loans performed bet-
ter. 

In spite of that, Societe Generale Albania again 
reported profits for the 4th year in a row. The 
strategy and the hard work, replied to us by pro-
viding good end for the year and stronger basis 
for the coming ones.
 
An increase by 3.4% on deposits translated in 
430 M EUR paved our objective to provide a 
richer variety of products and larger opportuni-
ties for our customers with bright ideas and cor-
rect business plans, as well as those who were 
looking to provide themselves with properties, 
goods and services. 

The facts tell, that our loans portfolio increased 
by 8.4% in yearly basis representing almost 
double of the previous year increase ratio, in-
deed the figure is 313 M EUR.  I would like to 
accent the fact that the quality of loans in So-
ciete Generale Albania is upgraded, evidenced 
by 8.4% NPL by the end of December-approxi-
mately 1.22% less than one year ago. 

I would like to share with you the reasons of 
such success. A constantly well-trained per-

sonnel, supported by adequate policies of the 
company and a relentless motivation by the 
whole staff, guaranteed qualitative and quanti-
tative effect at the finish. On the other side our 
strategy to focus more on the needs of the cus-
tomer rather than on creating fabricated prod-
ucts, augmented the effect of more customers 
delivered and of course more of them satisfied. 

Having always these principles present, our fu-
ture aim is to become a reinforced factor in the 
banking market of Albania and a key bank to 
our current customers and the potential ones. 
Although so far I have been speaking here of 
the Bank as a private enterprise, an entity serv-
ing concrete customers, the impact of Societe 
Generale Albania in the economy of the country 
in a macro level is observable. By assisting busi-
nesses to invest more their employees are gain-
ing more, and by assisting individuals to obtain 
more their lives are improved. We are happy to 
notice that. 

It is crucial for me to bring to your attention our 
Bank’s contribution to Albanian art and innova-
tion activities. For it is of a special importance to 
us to be if not the only one, for sure among the 
few companies who invest in these fields of life. 

I am sure anyone who read these lines has al-
ready gathered that we do have very ambitious 
objectives for 2016. We pretend to be one of 
the most transparent banks in the country, the 
bank of good examples to take, and the bank 
that will serve as reference in the market. By ap-
plying the equity principle to our Brand in terms 
of products, finance and customer we are sure 
that Societe Generale Albania will continue to 
expand in the market, grow in dimensions and 
increase its profits soundly and stably. 
 

Dear Customers,
Shareholders and Employees,
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The strong corporate franchise of SGAL on 
the market was upgraded in 2015 with more 
visible dynamism in overall growth of this 
part of the business. Undertakings in sev-
eral organizational, marketing and sales seg-
ments were catalyzed in order to facilitate 
the boosting activity. 

The wider focus out of credit centric model is 
applied in order to provide for this tradition-
ally very demanding market more integrated 
banking approach inclusive with wider scope 
of transaction based services. 

Several more integrated solutions are exer-
cised to follow specific sectors of expertise 
such as trade finance and or financing of 
more complex investment deals. 

Advantages of SGAL as member of a group 

with exceptionally successful 2015 world-
wide, remain on the highest level of security 
for funds and transactions as well as in prop-
er imperative of maintaining low cost of risk 
as a determinant in addressing the financing 
needs of the clients as well as their projects. 
This brings the level of understanding and 
cooperation to the targeted long term part-
nership level. 

This describes the unique position in a dull 
market ambience to be a fast winner in being 
the most active and solid grower with all the 
performances especially on the corporate 
side. 

Such a momentum allows to follow the 
ambition of the long-term set goal to grow 
sustainably with the best of the market in all 
market segments.

Key data                      
(standalone SGAL, EUR milion)

2015 2014           %

Volume of loans     195.1 187.8 3.9

Volume of deposits     55.3  54.4  1.7

CORPORATE 
BANKING

LARGE 
CORPORATE

Out of already being the bank of first choice 
for international companies, the reference 
level for the local corporate and SME market 
we believe is elevated to another frontier. 
Continuous efforts are made in applying the 
more innovative and technology based more 
efficient processing of client related needs 
which will impact the midterm better pricing 
capabilities. 

In 2016, the Bank expects to see greater 
interest in financing new projects, in 
acquisitions and in refinancing existing 
transactions. With its well-established 
business model, sophisticated products and 
services, and in combination with Group 

specialists in various business areas, SGAL 
can offer the most advantageous solutions for 
their activities and developing their business.

SME

SME clients even still on the very beginning 
on our long term strategic plan to grow and 
to be supported is already exposing the very 
positive deliveries. Given the circumstances 
of an overall market stagnation higher 
selectiveness is immanent to the commercial 
attitude, having very little maneuver space 
in the pricing applied. Nevertheless, the 
segment did show a 16% increase in loans.

2014 2015

54
.4

55
.3

Deposits: Large Corporate & SME
(EUR milion)

+1.7%

 

2014 2015

18
7.

8

19
5.

1

Loans: Large Corporate & SMS
(EUR milion)

+4%

 

2014 2015

16
3.

3

16
6.

58

Loans: Large Corporate 
(EUR milion)

+2% +16%

2014 2015

24
.5

28
.5

2

 Loans: SME-s 
(EUR million)
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CASH MANAGEMENT

SGAL Business Operation unit has been 
responsible for managing corporate clients 
operation towards domestic market and 
international outgoing payments.

NON CASH PAYMENT OPERATIONS

SGAL activity increases in the area of domestic 
non-cash payments, growth increase of 181% 
versus 2014 for outgoing payments and 14% 
of incoming payments.
 
In Foreign Payments, the bank recorded a 
year on year decrease of 17% in the volume of 

outgoing payments due to lower consumption 
of consumer goods, meaning less imports 
from abroad. While the decrease for incoming 
payments was 21%.

TRADE FINANCE

In Trade Finance, there was significant growth 
of 35% in volume of bank guarantees issued.

In view of the situation in the area of public 
procurement and statutory changes regarding 
distribution of fuels and cigarettes, clients 
more frequently applied for guarantees with 
shorter tenors.

CORPORATE 
BANKING

GLOBAL 
TRANSACTION 
BANKING

+35%
Growth in the 
number of bank 
guarantees

in Trade Finance

CORPORATE 
BANKING

TREASURY 
LEASING ACTIVITIES

TREASURY

Treasury Department is focused in client’s in-
termediation and access to financial market 
and instruments with the objective of maxi-
mizing client satisfaction, reaching an opti-
mum level of risk versus profit profile. The 
department organization guarantees a clear 
segregation of duties and increased efficiency.

Despite the rather unfavorable market con-
ditions, however, satisfactory results were 
achieved in transactions with corporate cli-
ents. 

LEASING 

During 2015, Leasing Department succeeded 
to further develop its activities and outstand-
ing portfolio standing at € 3.4 M.

Leasing Department diversification strategy 
paid off in developing financing for new range 
of equipments in the field of Telecommunica-
tion & I.T. Transportation, logistic, construc-
tion.
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RETAIL 
BANKING

RETAIL 
BANKING

RETAIL 
BANKING

NETWORK 
OF BRANCHES

Retail Banking

Societe Generale Albania retail banking 
business continued developing in a dynamic 
fashion bot in the country. Our Bank 
strengthened its position considerably in all 
segments of the consumer market.
As the Albanian economy continues to 
recover, we are further developing the 
growth opportunities within our prudent risk 
appetite. 

In an increasingly competitive environment 
in the banking sector during 2015, SGAL 
managed to achieve dynamic growth of its 
retail loans portfolio. Its total volume rose 
by more than 24%. At the same time, SGAL 
maintained a good position among retail 
lenders, gaining 95 bps market share during 
2015.

Small business customers make up a key 
part of SGAL retail business, just as small 
businesses are important to the growth of 
our national economy. In 2015, we were 
pleased to intensify the lending to small 

businesses by 1.35 times compared to 
2014. The success of our Bank in servicing 
small businesses mainly resulted from 
the bank’s customer-oriented approach 
towards business development, which is 
aimed at improving service quality while also 
increasing profitability. 

In the reporting period, the Bank 
demonstrated controlled growth rates in retail 
deposits, an increase of 1.4% compared to 
2014. Societe Generale Albania was able to 
capitalize on its brand reputation and secure 
inflows of customer funds. 

In 2015 our Bank concentrated its efforts on 
working with payroll clients and this had a 
positive impact on profitability and more 
generally on customers’ base growth. By 
building deep and enduring relationships that 
deliver value to customers, and by providing 
them with greater choice and flexibility, our 
aim has been to provide more transparent 
products and continue to simplify the 
business and so helping to improve service 
levels and reduce conduct risks.

Network of Branches

In view of the main ambition of our Bank “To 
deliver the best to our clients”, optimization 
and developing of our branches’ network is 
fundamental as our Bank aim is to build and 
share expertise, and use it to benefit a fast-
growing SGAL Bank community. Our branches 
offer a variety of products and services as part 
of its key strategic objective to offer a full set of 
services to customers.

Technology is also at the forefront in the 
evolution now underway in branch banking. 
The evolution is driven, in part, by the speed 
at which new technologies and capabilities are 
being embraced by the consumer market. 

That is why we are excited about piloting certain 
technology innovation in the reconstruction of 
Tirana Twin Tower branch offering the iPad so 
that each customer can access it to be informed 
on the terms & conditions in force. Additionally a 
special zone is established for disabled persons, 
including certain facilities to independently 
utilize specific PC for selling the products and 
services the Bank offers. The reconstruction 
of Tirana Twin Tower was executed in fully 
alignment of Societe Generale Group, showing 
for an outlet model in the market.

Furthermore Korca branch premises was fully 
renovated and enlarged aiming to better serve 
to our clients as part of the continuous efforts to 
exploit competitive sales strategies.

Our banking network remains strategically 
aligned within the key urban areas of our primary 
markets. We plan to add banking centers as the 
right opportunities arise and as the economy 
continues to improve.

Alternative means of serving to our clients 
remains the Quality Service Center with a 
focused activity in in these many areas, starting 
from its main aim of daily assistance offered to 
clients, complaints handling and info giving in 
the right moment.

Information to our clients is transmitted through 
different alterative channels, i.e direct mails 
(sgal.info@socgen.com), Chat application, 
Online Banking application, etc.

Also, during 2015 Quality Service Center has 
been closer to our clients, involved in several 
commercial campaigns promoting different 
products, Data cleaning for all the Retail 
customers and Quality Service Surveys                                        

Our customers can contact our Quality Service 
Centre specialists through the phone number 
(0800 48 48) which are at their disposal free 
of charge from Monday to Saturday (9 a.m. 19 
p.m.)

During 2015 a support for branches for mitigating 
potential operational risk is the establishment of 
a new unit within Retail, Permanent Supervision, 
aiming the detection and prevention of any event 
that occur in branches network. Guidelines on 
controlling issues are designed and updated 
according new model and new structure by 
focusing on the most risky areas. Enforcement 
of first line of defense has increased Self-
awareness of branches and its accountability. 
For the first time, a new methodology has been 
implemented converting controlling process 
from monthly into quarterly periodicity, enforcing 
and unifying monitoring process.
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VIP 
BRANCH

Products and Banking Services

Societe Generale provides comprehensive 
banking products & services for its Retail 
Banking customers, making a positive differ-
ence in this highly competitive environment.

Retail’ customers segment is a key part of 
the bank in terms of growth and balances, 
therefore special attention has been given for 
bringing a broad spectrum of products and 
services to them, either new ones or revising 
the existing by increasing feasibility.

During 2015 Retail customers, except from 
being offered with a variety of loan products 
have been supported with very good interest 
rates upon combination of favorable tenors, 
on both mortgage & consumer loans, closer 
to their needs & payment capability. 

Except from offering a range of integrated 
products and services, our Retail Customers 
are served through a variety of channels with 
specific focus to alternative channels. 

We offer a variety of cards, both brands Visa 
& Master Card and on this regard different ini-
tiatives have been taken in order to enhance 
their usage, either in terms of revising fees & 
commissions for Visa Premier or in terms of 
incentives offered like Cash Back Campaign 

for Master Card which resulted a very suc-
cessful initiative.

Such initiatives aim to strengthen the existing 
customer’s loyalty and educate our newest 
Retail customer’s base toward Cards prod-
ucts and usage increase.

In addition the bank has invested in technolo-
gy, in order to provide even more convenience 
to our customers. The newest advanced ser-
vice, “Online Banking”, has enabled a number 
of enhancements to our customers that use 
the electronic & mobile banking services.

The “Online Banking” service ensures secure 
access for transaction performing especially 
through the Mobile One-Time-Password fea-
ture, unique in the Albanian market; time sav-
ing – everywhere and in every time, 24 hours 
/ 7 days and high Flexibility – access through 
PC, tablet, mobile and smart phones.   Ex-
cept from checking and   monitoring account 
transactions and balances customers have 
the possibility to apply for additional products 
like ordering a card online and opening elec-
tronic term deposits through this very user 
friendly channel.

All the above clusters aims to build broader 
and deeper relationships with both existing 
and new Retail customers. 

PRODUCTS AND 
BANKING SERVICES

VIP Branch

VIP Branch, opened on July 2011, directed 
its business focus to servicing the needs and 
requirements of the Individual VIP Clients of the 
Bank consisting in businesspersons, business 
executives and their family members.
The branch success is attributed to the trust 
and confidence of its clients who are putted at 
the core of the private banking relationship and 
overtime expanding the relationship as the client 
consolidates more of his assets with the bank. 
The results of this Branch in these 4 years have 

been quite impressive, including here not only a 
significant business volume generated in both, 
loans and deposits, but also the creation of a 
very qualitative customer portfolio.

Investing in the long term commitment to its 
clients ,  increasing of customer portfolio size, 
building of a healthy lending portfolio , remaining 
decently competitive in the deposits market and 
strengthening the synergy with the Branches 
Network and Business Division, creating thus 
a very fruitful collaboration have been the key 
objectives of this Branch.

RETAIL 
BANKING

RETAIL 
BANKING
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RISK MANAGEMENT IN 
SOCIETE GENERALE ALBANIA

Risk Management in Societe Generale Albania

Societe Generale Albania has built and consolidated its risk management culture by creating 
an effective risk management system (ERM System) that includes the following:

 -policies and procedures that embed the highest risk standards and which  
   require to be implemented throughout the organization;
 -identification and quantification of risks;
 -identification of overall exposure and contribution of each risk factor;
 -a proper reporting process which continuously feeds management with  
  appropriate information needed for decision making;
 -monitoring of compliance with limits and procedures;

Societe Generale Albania has created structures that ensure making cautious steps, and 
which carefully manage risk in each part of their activity. Continuous monitoring, but most 
of all self-control and responsibility, are the key characteristics of success.

Our staff is involved in a permanent process of control, which aims at controlling risk in each 
individual’s activity. 

Risk management in Societe Generale Albania relies on three main pillars. 

RISK
MANAGEMENT

21
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It is business orinted

It is risk-appetite driven

Strong managerial involvement and appointed staff has clear responsibilities and roles and is 
activevly involved in the daily management of the risks born by their operations

Tight framework of internal procedures and guidelines

It relies on adequate information and reporting mechanisms available to all levels of Management

Promotes transparency and independence of risk management department from business

It requires continuous/periodic risk identification, measurement, reporting and control

It is dynamic, constantly changing in response to the changes in the environment

RISK
MANAGEMENT

RISK MANAGEMENT DEPARTMENT 
ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE
PRINCIPLES OF RISK MANAGEMENT

1. Risk Management Department Organizational Structure

HEAD OF DEPARTMENT

Credit Risk 
Sector

Credit 
Management 
and Market 
Risk Sector

Recovery 
Sector Legal Sector Permanent 

Control Sector

2. Principles of risk management  
Societe Generale Albania risk manage-
ment policies are designed to identify and 
analyze these risks, to set appropriate risk 
limits and controls, and to monitor the risks 
and adherence to limits by means of reli-
able and up-to-date administrative and in-
formation systems. 

SGAL regularly reviews its risk manage-
ment policies and procedures always aim-
ing best practice and compliance with the 
group bank normative. Individual account-
ability and professionalism built and con-
tinuously strengthened through trainings, 
are stressed out to create a disciplined and 
constructive culture and environment of 
risk management and control.  

Societe Generale Albania management framework relies on the following guiding principles:

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

RISK
MANAGEMENT

SGAL LENDING POLICY
CLIENT INTEREST PROTECTION, 
TRANSPARENCY AND CONFIDENTIALITY

3. SGAL Lending Policy

SGAL has a clear lending policy which purpose 
is to present a clear view of the desired 
direction of SGAL lending activity, identifying 
the main targeted clients, industries, products 
as well as a desired composition of SGAL 
loans portfolio that ensures a diversified 
customers base and supports sound growth 
with acceptable and mitigated risks. 

This document presents a framework of the 
main standards and principles that should 
guide the lending activity of SGAL ensuring 
that it is consistent with the bank’s objectives 
and risk appetite. This is in function of 
achieving desired business results while 
effectively managing risks.

SGAL aims to offer through its network 
short and long term loans for the Albanian 
businesses and individuals, establishing open 
and transparent collaborative relationships.

Societe Generale Albania respects at any time 
the rules and restrictions compulsory by the 
legal and regulatory framework of Bank of 
Albania as well as any restriction provided by 
the mother bank or other providers of funds. 
 

4. Client Interest Protection, Transparency 
and Confidentiality

The Bank guarantees equal access towards 
loans for clients and rejects loan applications 
only when they are based on violation of 
policies and procedures, or risk factors higher 
than those acceptable by the bank.

The Bank maintains fully transparent loan 
terms and rates, as an essential part of its 
relationship with the clients. The Bank makes 
sure that its clients well understand these 
terms and conditions and they take decisions 
related to the loan that best fits their interest. 
The Bank employees provide all required 
information to clients regarding loan terms 
and conditions.

All aspects of customer relationship with the 
bank are strictly confidential. Bank employees 
ensure that all data and information on the 
clients are well maintained and available only 
to relevant Bank personnel.

The Bank is legally obliged to release credit 
information without client consent only when 
a court order is presented to the bank, when it 
is requested so by Bank of Albania or by other 
institutions that have such legal rights.

22       23   



MAIN DEVELOPMENTS IN LOANS’ PORTFOLIO 
DURING YEAR 2015

5. Main developments in loans’ portfolio 
during year 2015

Lending activity during year 2015 was 
performed under a slow macroeconomic 
growth, increased liquidity in the bank, de-
creased bases interest rates, and a still high 
average of non-performing loans in the sys-
tem ending with 18.2% in December 2015 
(vs 22.8% in 2014). 

SGAL portfolio of loans showed still steady 
growth during the year (+12%). On the 
other hand, non-performing loans ratio de-
creased to 8.5% at the end of the year (vs 

9.7% in 2014), maintaining for the third year 
the leader position in terms of NPL ratio in 
the banking system. The global decrease of 
NPL Stock (-5%) is partially due to the Write 
Off measure recommended from Bank of 
Albania. Retreated of this mandatory mea-
sure, the stock would have increased by 
4%, still much slower than the portfolio de-
velopment trend.

Composition of portfolio shows an equilib-
rium between Retail and Non Retail seg-
ments. Therefore, year 2015 was closed 
with 61% share in non-retail business cli-
ents and 39% share of retail clients.

6. Provisioning

Provisioning, as an important activity of the 
Bank due to its impact on the bank’s ex-
penses and its final financial result, is under 
responsibility of Risk Management Depart-
ment.

SGAL strictly follows the Bank of Albania 
and IFRS rules materialized in clear proce-
dures and policies that guide the provision-

ing process. 4.5 ME exposures had been 
written off as per Supervisor rules. 

 
7. Main business lines and associated 
risks

Considering the internally implemented pro-
cesses and procedures, Societe Generale 
Albania assesses its main risks as de-
scribed in the following picture.

Portofolio Composition 
ON December '15

NON-RETAIL
61%

RETAIL
39%

PROVISIONING
MAIN BUSINESS LINES 
AND ASSOCIATED RISKS

Composition of Loan Portfolio
December '14

Composition of Loan Portfolio
December '15

LOST 5.3%LOST 6.1%

DOUBTFUL 2.2%DOUBTFUL 1.8%

SUBSTANDART 1.0%SUBSTANDART 1.7%

SPECIAL
MENTIONED 
5.9%

SPECIAL
MENTIONED 
7.1%

Standard
85.6%

Standard
83.2%

Risk Department

LENDING 
ACTIVITY

MARKET RISK 
(DELIVERY RISK, 

DEBTOR RISK, CVAR)

STRUCTURAL 
RISK / LIQUIDITY 

RISK

OPERATIONAL 
RISK

CREDIT 
RISK

OPERATIONAL RISK 
(INCLUDING FRAUD AND 

MONEY LAUNDERING)

OPERATIONAL 
ACTIVITY

TREASURY 
ACTIVITY

ASSET - LIABILITY 
FUNCTION

Portfolio reached 403 mio EUR; 314 mio EUR on balance sheet in total.

RISK
MANAGEMENT

RISK
MANAGEMENT

24       25   



MAIN BUSINESS LINES 
AND ASSOCIATED RISKS

• Credit Risk
Societe Generale Albania respects at any 
time the rules and restrictions compulsory 
by the legal and regulatory framework of 
Bank of Albania, as well as any restric-
tion provided by the mother bank or other 
providers of funds. Its flow of operations 
ensures a high level of monitoring start-
ing with the credit granting process up to 
the disbursement phase and the after dis-
bursement monitoring (monitoring through 
the entire loan life). Credit Risk monitoring 
includes the counterparty risk arising from 
market transactions and the concentration 
risk arising from large exposures. 

High lending standards, optimal organi-
zational structure and flow of information, 
presence of risk opinions for every loan file, 
continuous monitoring and management 
feeding with information, and a well-orga-
nized recovery process, lead and strength-
en the credit risk management process in 
Societe Generale Albania.

 
• Structural Risk
Structural Risk includes interest rate and 
exchange rate risks which are risks of loss 
or of depreciation in the bank’s assets aris-
ing from variations in interest or exchange 
rates. ALM function under Finance Depart-
ment monitors these risks. Interest rates 
and foreign exchange rates have shown 

stability, while the bank manages to keep 
a foreign net open position near zero. Be-
sides the overall net open position of the 
bank, internal limits are set to enforce 
monitoring toward this risk, as part of early 
warning systems implemented and daily 
monitored.

• Liquidity Risk
Liquidity Risk, as the risk of the Bank not 
being able to meet its obligations as they 
come due, is monitored and managed by 
ALM function in collaboration with Treasury 
Department. 
 
• Operational Risk
Operational risk, AML & CFT and Compli-
ance Risk Management are part of Perma-
nent Control Sector within Risk Manage-
ment Department.  

Operational risk   refers to the risk of loss-
es resulting from inadequate or failed inter-
nal processes, people and systems, or ex-
ternal events, including events with a low 
probability of occurrence but a high poten-
tial for loss. This definition includes losses 
generated by legal, reputation and image 
risk but is not included strategic risk. 
SGAL’s objective is to set up controls of 
its operational risks and approach them 
from a risk/profitability perspective. The 
OR management system within SGAL is 
articulated in:

MAIN BUSINESS LINES 
AND ASSOCIATED RISKS

1.Operational Risk identification and as-
sessment that consists in: identifying ma-
jor intrinsic risks inherent to all products, 
activities, procedures and systems, and 
especially with regard to new products, 
new activities, planned acquisitions and 
expansion in treated in the New Products 
Committee; performing relevant Scenario 
Analysis for extreme losses; assess the re-
sidual operational risks to which the bank 
is exposed on regular basis (Risk and Con-
trol Self Assessment exercise); regularly 
define, collect and analyze Key Risk Indi-
cators (KRI); internal and external loss col-
lection with regular frequency 

2. Operational Risk mitigation assessing 
the degree of vulnerability to these risks, 
taking into account the entity’s prevention 
and control mechanisms, and focusing in 
particular on Permanent Supervision, Busi-
ness continuity and Crisis Management, 
compliance and confidentiality issues 

AML & CFT Risk in SGAL is treated with a 
due diligence form the first relation instau-
ration with the customer (Know Your Cus-

tomer – KYC procedure), the filtration of his 
profile and the analysis of his transaction 
during the lifecycle relation with the bank.

• Market Risk
Market Risk is the risk of losses resulting 
from changes in the price of market prod-
ucts, in volatility and correlations. SGAL 
does not deliberately maintain any open 
position to profit from anticipated variations 
in foreign exchange, interest rates, equi-
ties, etc. Therefore, in full compliance with 
the Bank Normative on “Market Risks”, any 
position deliberately left open and generat-
ing market risk is strictly forbidden.

SGAL monitors and respects all limits in 
place set by the mother bank or/and local 
authorities and when these requirements 
differ, the most conservative approach is 
applied. 

Daily monitoring involves:
- debtor risk 
- delivery risk 
- replacement risk 

RISK
MANAGEMENT

RISK
MANAGEMENT
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Infrastructure and Technology (IT)

Having in focus the customer satisfac-
tion, the Infrastructure and Technology (IT) 
department has continued to improve the 
quality of service and being able to ensure 
availability, accessibility, performance and 
security of all IT services. Following a 3 years 
IT plan 2015- 2018, IT department continued 
its activity towards consolidation of a virtual 
environment; Security of IT applications and 
infrastructure with follow-up of action plan 
on PCI/DSS and completion of security as-
sessments for all sensitive application. 
Some of the main projects in IT Department 
during 2015 include:

n  Replacement of the obsolete core banking 
storages with a new consolidated storages 
to address the increase in data volume due 
to growth of bank activity, improve perfor-
mance, ensure better data protection and ef-
ficient data replication and disaster recovery.

n  Consolidation of a virtual environment 
where are hosted main bank applications 
according to new technological standards 
promoted by Societe Generale and best 
practices.

n  PCI/DSS – following up remediation plan 
prepared by a Qualified Security Assessor 
(QSA) for 2015. Moreover, IT Security unit 
has already completed the security assess-
ment for all bank sensitive applications.

n  Developing in-house application for opti-
mization of processes in workflow manage-
ment solution. Treasury Back Office process-
es were successfully automated using Jira.

n  Completed upgrade of hardware and soft-
ware for Head Office workstations based on 
Next Desktop Generation standards improv-
ing performance and reinforce security.

OPERATIONAL 
DIVISION

PROJECTS AND ORGANIZATION (DPO) 
BACK OFFICE (BO)

Projects and Organization (DPO)

The main responsibilities of DPO include: 
project management and project portfolio 
management, DELTA maintenance and en-
hancement, process improvement through 
Lean Six Sigma (L6S) methodology and also 
formal approval of procedures 

n  During 2015, Projects and Organization 
Department has actively managed a portfolio 
of over 111 projects and action plans. One 
of the main initiatives during 2015 was start-
ing of a 3 years RESHAPE Program in col-
laboration with our group head office team. It 
consist on continuous process improvement 
through process optimization methodol-
ogy Lean Six Sigma. DPO has successfully 
completed several projects related to this 
Program. All these projects achieved great 
results by improving process indicators with 
a minimum of 30% and also ensuring imple-
mentation of group best practices. 

n  Another important DPO initiative for 2015 
was implementation of PRISM project man-
agement methodology. DPO has organized 
and trained many employees from different 
departments of the bank with purpose of 
increasing the knowledge’s on project man-
agement and implementing the new meth-
odology advised by our group. The work 
has continued with monitoring of PRISM 
implementation in all bank projects. The main 
achievement in this regard was Certification 
of our subsidiary with Maturity Level 3, as 
one of the first subsidiaries certified with this 
level of Maturity in PRISM methodology.

Other successful projects managed by DPO 
last year are: Implementation of Basel II as 
per Bank of Albania requirements; Manage-
ment of Sovereign PCRU, Core Banking Sys-
tem patch upgrade, Authorization & Exceed-
ing Management, Corporate Securities and 
Albtelecom Billing System. The department 
had also a key role in projects such as New 
Generation of E-Banking, SWING Migration, 
Direct Sales and Online Credit Application.

Back Office (BO)

Back Office activity during 2015 continued 
to notice increase on its main activities. 
The most important ones are: Incoming and 
outgoing payment orders increased by 9%; 
Transactions performed for treasury activ-
ity increased by 12% on the total volumes; 
Number of total loans disbursed increased 
by 2.3%. 

The department is positively evaluated for its 
quality of service and response time by the 
bank network. In overall, BO activities have 
been running successfully and with very 
good rating in respect of KPI’s and opera-
tional losses.

Thanks to the full dedication of the entire 
staff, during 2015, Back Office successfully 
achieved multiple challenges:
n  A new process on cash management ac-
tivity was designed and approved aiming to 
minimizing the number of recipients and in-
crease security. 
n  Treasury Back Office processes also went 
through further improvements and automa-

Operational Division is at the core of Bank activity. For every loan disbursed, every payment 
completed, new product launched, new technological solution implemented and premises 
organization, Operations Division ensures the process to move forward. Operations partners 
with all the areas of the bank to deliver products and services to all our clients. It ensures that 
the necessary technology and information flows are monitored and redesigned in order to 
always be available, efficient and profitable. 

Operational division is organized in five main functional departments: Infrastructure and Tech-
nology, Projects and Organization, Back Office, Cards & Ebanking and General Resources 
with each department manager reporting to the Chief Operating Officer. It seeks to achieve 
operational excellence by improving performance, develop effective processes, process au-
tomation and multichannel integration allowing customers to interact with the bank.
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tions. Thanks to in-house development by 
our IT team, it managed to increase efficien-
cy and improve control and monitoring.

n  On payments and correspondent banking 
activity, BO implemented changes in regard 
to automation of payments transactions, in-
crease the rate of STP of incoming payments 
and implemented all the requirements of 
group policy on correspondent. A very good 
risk culture has been shown during 2015 in all 
payments activities.

n  Noticeable progress was done for block-
ing and execution orders on answering to the 
authorities within predefined deadlines by the 
law, despite the increasing volumes during all 
the year 2015.
 
n  New permanent supervision control, sug-
gested by Credit Disbursement team has 
been put in place during 2015. The team also 
contributed in preparation of Loan Contract 
in PDF for mortgage loan, reducing the risk of 
contract discrepancies.

Cards and E-banking (CEB)

Cards and E-banking Department continued 
the commitment of the Bank to develop its 
digital channels. The main activities covered 
by the department were in strong support to 
the Retail and Business Divisions, especially 
in the process of new customer opening, 
launching new electronic products and ser-
vices, increasing the market share of cards, 
ATMs, e-banking, mobile banking, MPAY and 
SMS services.
The most important development for 2015, 
was the new platform of online banking and 

mobile application that went live on Septem-
ber 2015. New applications, both web and 
mobile app, have a totally updated service 
and are a market leader in the e – banking 
and mobile. The project introduced new 
functionalities, optimized the user interface, 
improved performance and service quality as 
well as increased security. It also supports 
real time customer’s registrations and service 
activations. This means that the customer 
can have the possibility to receive the acti-
vations codes (user name and password) to 
activate the service right after they apply for 
the service in the branch. New Online Bank-
ing platforms will give the opportunity for our 
customers to:

n  Have a new GUI (Graphical User Interface) 
of existing features and new ones designed 
with our customer and its needs in focus.

n  Have an independent solution such as 
Mobile Banking apps for native with iOS and 
Android.

n  Communicate with the bank for different 
services using the e-form module.

n   Benefit from the implemented extra securi-
ty futures like mobile OTP (Gemalto solution) 
that is used for secure authentication and 
authorization in web and mobile applications.

n  Monitor their deposits and loans with infor-
mation on maturity date, interests rates and 
other related info.

n  Have multi-level or multi/signing level for 
the Corporate and SME customers. This al-

lows the client to have different users for pre-
paring and authorizing payments.
In addition to its focus to ensure high quality 
of the electronic payments and remote bank-
ing services, the department continued its 
works on monitoring the cards activity, op-
timizing the process and evaluate develop-
ment of new products. 

Even though the number of SMS messages 
were increased by over 42%, the number of 
new card soled increased by 18%, ATM cash 
withdrawals increased by 16% and the num-
ber of POS transactions &internet increased 
by 32%, the department has ensured timely 
resolutions of incidents and requests for the 
support agreed with internal and external 
customer.

General Resources (GR) 

In line with the bank’s strategy, the General 
Resources department has pursued its efforts 
to support the growth of Societe Generale 
Albania with cost efficiency and risk control. 
The major activities, in which the department 
was engaged during 2015, were:

n  Cost control and optimization – 29 tenders 
were run for the year, generating significant 
savings. 

n  Branch Network leases renegotiations – In 

the framework of the new Real Estate mar-
ket conditions, GR continued its initiative 
to renegotiate the lease agreements for the 
branches network. This initiative resulted in a 
considerable reduction of the prices for rent-
ing fee.

Asset management:
 
n During 2015 was finalized the sale of 15 
properties for a total value of around 500 000 
EUR, even though the Real Estate market 
went through another year of stagnation;

n Was designed, developed and launched 
an new platform dedicated for sale of assets, 
offering transparency, security and an updat-
ed database for sales agents, properties and 
prospect clients;

n An innovation worthy to mention in the 
banking sector, was the organization of an 
auction for sales of properties organized by 
the bank itself.

n Managing of working environment and 
premises was also another activity that dur-
ing 2015 realized a total renovation of our 
premising in the flagship branch of “Twin 
Towers”. This renovation not only implement-
ed a new and modern design oriented to the 
service toward client, but also added innova-
tive elements and a dedicated structure for 
orientation of clients with limited visibility. 

OPERATIONAL 
DIVISION

OPERATIONAL 
DIVISION
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
GENERAL SHAREHOLDERS’ ASSEMBLY
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

General Shareholders’ Assembly

The General Shareholders’ Assembly with-
in its competencies performs all the activi-
ties determined by the legislation as well as 
by the bank’s By-Laws. 

The General Shareholders’ Assembly are 
called by the Board of Directors or in case 
of urgency by any of its members or any 
Managing Director, and at least once per 
business year for the approval of the finan-
cial statements.

Board of Directors 

Board of Directors ensures that the bank 
has a solid governance system and that 
the institution’s operations comply with the 
relevant applicable regulations. The Board 
of Directors implements the policies and 
strategies of the bank in connection with the 
business plan, risk management and annual 
budget. 

Through others, it takes  the necessary and 
adequate measures for ensuring the integrity 
of the financial and accounting system of 
the bank, the existence of the appropriate 
systems of audit especially with regard to 
risk management, operational and financial 
system of the bank, as well as ensuring 
compliance with the law and best practices in 
the banking system.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee reports to the Board 
of Directors. This committee audits and 
controls the accounting procedures and 
internal control of the bank, supervises 
the implementation of the procedures 
and changes in the legal and regulatory 
environment affecting the work of the bank, 
monitors the proper execution and controls 
the bank’s activity in compliance with laws 
and by-laws. 

Other Committees 

Following the SG Group guide lines, in 
addition are held two External Committees 
reporting to the Board of Directors: since 
2010 the Risk Committee reviews each 
semester the complete risk activity of 
the bank, while starting from 2011 the 
Compensation and Benefits Committee 
overviews the human resources policies 
and long-term profit-sharing schemes 
that Societe Generale Albania applies, by 
always having regard for changes in the 
local context.

In order to have a global overview of the 
bank activity on regular basis, there are 
also implemented several specialized 
internal committees chaired by the Chief-
Executive-Officer, covering the main areas 
of activity of the bank.

Corporate Governance

Corporate Governance in Societe Generale Albania is a system of rules, practices and 
processes that aims to guarantee secure and transparent relations between its Board of 
Directors, management functions, bank shareholders and other interested entities.

Through these practical rules, organization, management and control means this systems 
aims to ensure adequate directing and control of the bank. 

In accordance with the principles of good corporate governance, local prerequisites and 
the SG Group guide lines, there are established since the creation of the bank the General 
Shareholders’ Assembly, the Board of Directors and the Audit Committee:

Shareholders Assembly 

Majority Shareholder: 

Societe Generale 

88.64% 

Minority local shareholders 

 11.36%

Audit Committee

Mrs. Jitka PANTŮČKOVÁ

Mr.Franck DE GIORGIO

Mr.Romeo MITRI

Board of Directors

Mrs. Jitka PANTŮČKOVÁ

Mrs. Daniela HRISTOVA

Mr. Benoit SERPAULT

Mr. Julien ROCHE

Mr. Aleksandër XHUVANI

36       37   



HUMAN
RESOURCES 

40
EMPLOYMENT / RECRUITMENT

41
TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT

38       39   



HUMAN
RESOURCES

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT

Human Resources & Training
Annual Report, 2015

HUMAN
RESOURCES

EMPLOYMENT
RECRUITMENT

Human Resources and Training Department 
of Societe Generale Albania Bank works in 
line with the strategic directions of the com-
pany and aims the support of the business 
and the employees’ development.

Employment

At the end of 2015, Banka Societe Generale 
Albania had a staff of 395 employees, out 
of which 189 (47.8% of staff) work in Head 
Office and 206 (52.2% of staff) work in the 
Branch Network of the Bank. The staff in-
cludes 281 women (71%) and 114 men 
(29%).

The average age of SGAL employees is 
35.54 years.

At Societe Generale Albania Bank, more than 
93 % of the employees has university degree 
and postgraduate education.

During 2015, there were 48 new employees 
out of which 25 employees (52%) in Head 
Office and 23 (48%) are in Branch Network. 
In terms of gender, 36 employees (75%) were 
female and 12 (25%) were male.

Recruitment

Considering the dynamics of the organiza-
tional structure of Banka Societe Generale 
Albania and the contribution of each posi-
tion in the development and performance of 
the bank, a special importance was given to 
each recruitment and training of each new 
employee.
 
The bank has continuously invested in hir-
ing young and well educated people, and 
has also supported them through a qualita-
tive management of the compensation and 
benefits system and by applying preferential 
interest rates for its staff loans as well.

During 2015, as well as over the last years, 
the bank has paid a special attention to the 
internship programs for recent graduates 
and to students continuing their undergradu-
ate or postgraduate studies.

The internship has been considered as a 
successful tool for the attraction of the young 
generation.

New Leadership Model

For the first time during 2015, the New Leadership Model was presented to all Bank 
employees. 

New Leadership Model is a Unique Model for Societe Generale Group, implemented to all 
the group entities and presented to any bank employee. 

This model is focused in 5 main axes, out of which 4 directly reflects our Group values (Team 
Spirit, Responsibility, Innovation and Commitment), and one reflects the focus to the clients.
 

Training & Development
 
SGAL aims to realize effective training and to develop individual and professional skills in 
order to meet individual goals and the Bank objectives.

During 2015, HR & Training Department has delivered several training sessions dedicated 
to all Bank staff both: Head Office and Network employees. 

SGAL Training Path for 2015 based on General Training Guidelines (GTG) has been 
organized along 5 main training themes as below:
 

• Developing a management culture
• Increasing commercial efficiency 
• Strengthen Risk Culture
• Induction for newcomers
• Encouraging cooperation and team spirit

I work to 
increase our

impact on
clients

RESPONSIBILITY
I lead ethically
and with courage 

TEAM SPIRIT
I focus my energy
and talent on
collective success

INNOVATION
I know how to think 
out of the box and 
create the conditions 
that breed innovation

COMMITMENT
I provide inspiration and
encourange commitment
through my example and
consideration for others
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During 2015:
  

•  355 employees at least participated to one training during the year

•  40.7 is the average number of training hours per employee 

•  5.7   Euro  average cost of a training hour

•  231  Euro average cost of training per trained employee

Branch network employees vs head office employees trained during 2015 are presented in 
graphic below:

General training data during 2015 in comparison with counterpart data from 2013 and 2014 
are presented as follows:

HO vs Network 
Trainees 2015

Network, 73%

HO 27 %

HUMAN
RESOURCES TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT

2013 2014 2015

No. of total training hours 15,645 16,056 14,439

No. of total training days 1,956 2,276 1,805

Average no. of training sessions per  employees 399 390 395

No. of employees trained once a year 4.9 5.1 4.7

Average no. of training hours per employee 39.2 44.6 39.5

Human Resources & Training
Annual Report, 2015
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Sponsorship

Classical music, contemporary art and sport 
are three key areas of Societe Generale 
Albania’s cultural patronage policy.

During 2015, Societe Generale Albania 
supported events such as the International 
Operatic Festival “Maria Kraja” and “Kult” 
Awards. The International Operatic Festival 
“Maria Kraja” rewarded classical music 
artists and on the other hand “Kult” Awards, 
on its 11th edition, rewarded contemporary 
artists in several fields. Also, it followed the 
promotion of France – Albania cooperation 
and Francophones.

On late 2015, in the framework of 
contemporary art, Societe Generale Albania 
gave the opportunity to the Albanian 
public to participate to the “Transparency” 
art exhibition organized at Kalo Gallery, 
gathering more than 350 original pieces in 
order to promote local artists.

Following one of Societe Generale 
Groupcore values, consequently of Societe 
Generale Albania too, another focus was in 
the field of innovation such as in startups. 
Thus, bringing up new entrepreneurial ideas.

CSR

The business guidelines worldwide do 
notonly expect from corporate institutions 
tobe successful in their areas of activitiesbut 
also to have a role in contributing totheir 
environment. Societe Generale is veryaware 
of this tendency and intends to play 
asignificant role on this field.

Societe Generale Albania is conscious ofits 
responsibility towards its employees,clients 
and environment and has includedthose 
concerns in its 2015 CSR strategythrough 
4 main axes: human resources,responsible 
lending, environmentalawareness and direct 
support.

During 2015, Societe Generale Albania 
continued its legacy in the field of solidarity 
with different donations for children 
foundations such as “SOS” Children Villages, 
Down Syndrome Albania Foundation and 
people in need, including here aid delivered 
to people struck by natural disasters.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

The statement of financial position is to be read in conjunction with the notes to and forming 
part of the financial statements set out on pages 46 to 126.

Note 31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 5 3,005,695    2,988,764 

Restricted balances with Central Bank 6 5,605,130    5,756,788 

Loans and advances to financial institutions 7 1,291,240    1,187,751 

Available-for-sale investments 8 19,995,349  20,514,693 

Loans to customers, net 9.1 40,536,932  38,539,789 

Finance lease receivables 9.2 592,504 516,052

Assets acquired by adjudication 12 1,125,712       901,994 

Other assets 13 325,675 303,744

Property and equipment, net 10 559,433       594,027 

Intangible assets, net 11 240,132       223,666 

Total assets 73,277,802 71,527,268

Liabilities

Due to financial institutions 14 4,940,172    4,026,273 

Due to customers 15 59,496,585  58,899,592 

Other liabilities 16 351,749 418,473      

Deferred tax liability 17 9,609 -

Total liabilities  64,798,115  63,344,338 

Equity

Paid-up capital 18    6,740,900    6,740,900 

Share premium           1,750           1,750 

Legal reserve           4,618           4,618 

Fair value reserve 103,705         50,889 

Retained earnings 1,628,714    1,384,773

Total Equity 8,479,687    8,182,930 

Total liabilities and equity 73,277,802 71,527,268

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015
(amounts in Lek‘000, unless otherwise stated)
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND 
LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE

The statement of financial position is to be read in conjunction with the notes to 
and forming part of the financial statements set out on pages 46 to 126.

Note Year ended 31 
December 2015

Year ended 31 
December 2014

Interest income 20 3,601,017    3,797,037 

Interest expense 21 (758,898)   (1,353,892)

Net interest income 2,842,119     2,443,145 

Fee and commission income 22 411,424       364,142 

Fee and commission expense 23 (69,810)        (55,820)

Net fee and commission income       341,614       308,322 

Profit from foreign exchange transactions 78,255 58,466

Gain / (Loss) from sale of property and equipment 96 (1,244)

Other losses, net (13,263) (30,469)

Impairment and write-offs 24 (1,176,720) (512,693)

Depreciation 10 (87,312) (102,853)

Amortization 11 (47,389) (49,018)

Personnel expenses 25 (680,547) (666,350)

Administrative expenses 26 (921,003) (867,752)

(2,912,971) (2,198,667)

Profit before taxes 335,850 579,553

Income tax expense 26 (82,300) (102,553)

Deferred Income tax expense 17 (9,609) -

Profit for the year, net 243,941 477,000

Other comprehensive income

Other comprehensive income to be reclassified 
to profit or loss in subsequent periods:

Net change in fair value for available for sale investments 52,816 (168,930)

52,816 (168,930)

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 52,816 (168,930)

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 296,757 308,070

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015
(amounts in Lek‘000, unless otherwise stated)

STATEMENT OF CHANGES 
IN EQUITY

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015
(amounts in Lek‘000, unless otherwise stated)

  Paid-up 
capital

Share 
premium

Legal 
reserve

Fair value 
reserve

Retained 
earnings Total

Balance at 1 January 2014 6,740,900 1,750 4,618 219,819 907,773 7,874,860

Profit for the year - - - - 477,000 477,000

Net change in fair value for 
available for sale investments 

- - - (168,930) - (168,930)

Total comprehensive income - - - (168,930) 477,000 308,070

Subscribed capital - - - - - -

Cash dividends - - - - - -

Balance at 31 December 2014 6,740,900 1,750 4,618 50,889 1,384,773 8,182,930

Profit for the year - - - - 243,941 243,941

Net change in fair value for 
available for sale investments 

- - - 52,816 - 52,816

Total comprehensive income - - - 52,816 243,941 296,757

Subscribed capital - - - - - -

Cash dividends - - - - - -

Balance at 31 December 2015 6,740,900 1,750 4,618 103,705 1,628,714 8,479,687

The statement of financial position is to be read in conjunction with the notes to and forming part of the financial statements set out 
on pages 46 to 126.

AUDITOR’S
REPORT
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STATEMENT OF 
CASH FLOWS 

 Notes    Year ended 31 
December2015

 Year ended 31 
December 2014

Cash flows from operating activities:

Profit before taxes 335,850 579,553

Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets 
to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation 11 87,312 102,853

Amortisation 12 47,389 49,018

Impairment and write-offs   24 1,176,720 512,693

(Gain)/Loss on disposal of property and equipment (96) 1,244

Interest income 20 (3,601,017) (3,797,037)

Foreign exchange effect 57,938 5,286

Interest expense 21 758,898 1,353,892

Cash flows from operating profits before changes in operating assets and liabilities (1,137,006) (1,192,498)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Increase in the restricted balances with Central Bank 151,872 (281,975)

Decrease/(Increase) in loans and advances to fin. institutions (103,404) 457,550

Increase in loans to customers (3,151,879) (1,808,186)

Increase in other assets (304,912) (166,479)

Decrease in due to financial institutions 918,179 (957,700)

Increase in due to customers 423,055 1,957,840

Decrease in other liabilities (67,404) 50,311

Interest received 3,595,245 3,790,366

Interest paid (589,241) (1,113,966)

Income tax paid  (99,585)  (92,067)

Net cash generated by operating activities (365,081) 643,195

Cash flows from investing activities:

 Frédéric Blanc Albana Hallvaxhiu
 General Director Finance Director

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(Purchases)  of securities (11,459,171) (12,965,337)

Maturing of securities 11,956,979 9,795,520

Purchase of intangible assets (3,772) (15,017)

Purchase of property and equipment (113,531) (75,537)

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 827 25,797

Net cash flows from/(used in) investing activities 381,332 (3,224,002)

Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from the issue of shares - -

Net cash generated from financing activities - -

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 16,251  (2,591,379)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year 2,988,764 5,580,455

Impact of foreign exchange rate on cash and equivalents 680 (311)

Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year 3,005,695 2,988,764

The statement of financial position is to be read in conjunction with the notes to and forming part of the financial statements 
set out on pages 46 to 126.

These financial statements have been approved by the Board of Directors of the Bank on 16 March 2016 and signed on its behalf by:
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1. GENERAL
2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015
(amounts in Lek‘000, unless otherwise stated)

1. General

Banka SocieteGenerale Albania sh.a. (“the 
Bank”) is an Albanian financial institution 
which was incorporated on 12 December 
2003 under the Albanian Commercial Law 
and was licensed by the Bank of Albania 
(“the Central Bank”) on 16 February 2004 
(Decision No. 17) to operate as a bank in 
all fields of banking activity in Albania in 
accordance with the Law No. 8365, “On 
the Banking System in Albania”, dated July 
1998. The Bank is also subject to Law No. 
8269, dated December 1997, “On the Bank 
of Albania”. The Bank started its activity on 
1 March 2004.
Based on a Share Purchase Agreement 
signed on 18 April 2007, SocieteGenerale 
purchased 75.01% of the shares of the Bank 
and increased its percentage to 88.64%.

In 21 August 2009 the Bank established a 
subsidiary “Sogelease Albania sh.a” under 
its full ownership. The Bank and Sogelease 
Albania Sh.a on 31 March 2013 merged 
to form a single institution named Banka 
SocieteGenerale Albania.

As at 31 December 2015, the Bank was 
operating through a head office located in 
Tirana and 39 branches (2014: 42 branches). 
The Bank operates in the geographical 
region of Albania only. As at 31 December 
2015 the Bank had 395 employees (31 
December 2014: 400 employees).

2. Adoption of new and revised International 
Financial Reporting Standards 
( IFRSs)

2.1 Standards and Interpretations effective 
in the current period

The accounting policies adopted are 
consistent with those of the previous 
financial year. The following amendments 
to standards have been adopted by the 
Company as of 1 January 2015:

n Annual improvements to IFRSs 2011-2013 
Cycle which comprise minor clarification 
changes in:
  n IFRS 3 Business Combinations
  n IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
  n IAS 40 Investment Property

The adoption of the above amendments to 
standards has no effect on these financial 
statements.

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015
(amounts in Lek‘000, unless otherwise stated)

2.2 Standards issued but not yet effective 
and not early adopted

Standards issued but not yet effective 
and not early adopted up to the date of 
issuance of the Bank’s financial statements 
are listed below. This listing is of standards 
and interpretations issued, which the 
Bank reasonably expects to have an 
impact on disclosures, financial position or 
performance when applied at a future date. 
The Bank intends to adopt those standards 
when they become effective.

Standards and amendments that are not 
applicable at all to the Bank have not been 
discussed in detail.

n IAS 16 Property, Plant & Equipment and 
IAS 38 Intangible assets (Amendment): Clari-
fication of Acceptable Methods of Deprecia-
tion and Amortization. The amendment is 
effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2016. This amendment 
clarifies the principle in IAS 16 Property, 
Plant and Equipment and IAS 38 Intangible 
Assets that revenue reflects a pattern of 
economic benefits that are generated from 
operating a business (of which the asset is 
part) rather than the economic benefits that 
are consumed through use of the asset. As 
a result, the ratio of revenue generated to 
total revenue expected to be generated 
cannot be used to depreciate property, 
plant and equipment and may only be used 
in very limited circumstances to amortize 
intangible assets. The Bank does not cur-
rently use for depreciation purpose the 
specified revenue ratio and Management 
has assessed that this clarification will not 
impact the Bank when the standard be-
comes effective. 

2. Adoption of new and revised 
International Financial Reporting 
Standards (Continued)

2.2. Standards and interpretations in 
issue not yet adopted (continued)

n IAS 19 Employee benefits (Amended): 
Employee Contributions.  The amendment is 
effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 July 2014. The amendment applies to 
contributions from employees or third parties 
to defined benefit plans. Currently, the Bank 
does not provide any plans to employees 
and this amendment will not impact the 
Bank. 

n  IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.  The stan-
dard is applied for annual periods begin-
ning on or after 1 January 2018 with early 
adoption permitted. The final phase of 
IFRS 9 reflects all phases of the financial 
instruments project and replaces IAS 39 Fi-
nancial Instruments: Recognition and Mea-
surement and all previous versions of IFRS 
9. The standard introduces new require-
ments for classification and measurement, 
impairment, and hedge accounting. Man-
agement is still in the process of assessing 
the impact of this amendment and whether 
it will adopt the standard early. 

n IFRS 11 Joint arrangements (Amendment): 
Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests 
in Joint Operations. The amendment is 
effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2016. It adds new guidance 
on how to account for the acquisition of an 
interest in a joint operation that constitutes 
a business in accordance with IFRS. It is 
not expected that this amendment would 
be relevant to the Bank. The Bank does not 
have any joint arrangements. 
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2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

n IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers. The standard is effective for an-
nual periods beginning on or after 1 Janu-
ary 2018. IFRS 15 establishes a five-step 
model that will apply to revenue earned from 
a contract with a customer (with limited ex-
ceptions), regardless of the type of revenue 
transaction or the industry. The standard’s re-
quirements will also apply to the recognition 
and measurement of gains and losses on the 
sale of some non-financial assets that are not 
an output of the entity’s ordinary activities 
(e.g., sales of property, plant and equipment 
or intangibles). Extensive disclosures will 
be required, including disaggregation of to-
tal revenue; information about performance 
obligations; changes in contract asset and 
liability account balances between periods 
and key judgments and estimates. Manage-
ment is still in the process of assessing the 
impact the standard will have, however being 
a financial institution, no significant impact is 
expected. 

n IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements 
(amended).  The amendment is effective from 
1 January 2016. It will allow entities to use the 
equity method to account for investments in 
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates 

in their separate financial statements and 
will help some jurisdictions move to IFRS 
for separate financial statements, reducing 
compliance costs without reducing the 
information available to investors. The Bank 
presently does not have any investments in 
other entities and the amendment will not 
impact the Bank.

n IAS 1: Disclosure Initiative (Amendment).  
The amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of 
Financial Statements further encourage 
companies to apply professional judgment in 
determining what information to disclose and 
how to structure it in their financial statements. 
The amendments are effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2016. The narrow-focus amendments 
to IAS clarify, rather than significantly 
change, existing IAS 1 requirements. The 
amendments relate to materiality, order of 
the notes, subtotals and disaggregation, 
accounting policies and presentation of 
items of other comprehensive income (OCI) 
arising from equity accounted Investments. 
Management is assessing the impact of 
this amendment as it continuously tries to 
improve the presentation and relevance of 
information in the financial statements.

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

2. Adoption of new and revised Inter-
national Financial Reporting Standards 
(Continued)

2.2  Standards and interpretations in is-
sue not yet adopted (continued)

n IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts  The 
standard is effective for annual periods be-
ginning on or after 1 January 2016. The aim 
of this interim standard is to enhance the 
comparability of financial reporting by enti-
ties that are engaged in rate-regulated ac-
tivities, whereby governments regulate the 
pricing of particular types of activity. This can 
include utilities such as gas, electricity and 
water. The standard requires that the effect 
of rate regulation must be presented sepa-
rately from other items and grants exemption 
to IFRS first-time adopters. As the Bank has 
adopted IFRS in prior periods and is not en-
gaged in government regulated activities, it 
is not expected that the standard would be 
relevant to the Bank.

n  IFRS 16 Leases -The standard is effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2019. IFRS 16 requires lessees to 
recognize most leases on their balance sheet 
and to have a single accounting model for 
all leases, with certain exemptions. Lessor 
accounting is substantially unchanged. The 
Bank will analyze and assess the impact of 
the new standard on its financial position or 
performance

n  IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements (Amended) 
The amendment is effective from 1 January 
2016. This amendment will allow entities 
to use the equity method to account for 
investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures 
and associates in their separate financial 

statements. As the Bank does not have 
any investments in subsidiaries, joint 
ventures and associates, the amendment 
will not impact its financial position and 
performance.

n Amendment in IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial 
Statements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates 
and Joint Ventures: Sale or Contribution of Assets 
between an Investor and its Associate or Joint 
Venture. The amendments will be effective 
from annual periods commencing on or af-
ter 1 January 2016. The Bank presently does 
not have any investments in other entities, 
it does not prepare consolidated financial 
statements and the amendment will not im-
pact the Bank

n  IAS 12 Income taxes (Amendments): Recognition 
of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses  
-The amendments are effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2017, with early application permitted. The 
objective of these amendments is to clarify 
the accounting for deferred tax assets for 
unrealised losses on debt instruments 
measured at fair value. For example, the 
amendments clarify the accounting for 
deferred tax assets when an entity is not 
allowed to deduct unrealised losses for 
tax purposes or when it has the ability 
and intention to hold the debt instruments 
until the unrealised loss reverses. These 
amendments have not yet been endorsed 
by the EU. It is not expected that these 
amendments would be relevant to the 
Company.

n IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows (Amendments): 
Disclosure Initiative - The amendments are 
effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2017, with earlier 
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2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

application permitted. The objective of 
these amendments is to enable users of 
financial statements to evaluate changes 
in liabilities arising from financing activities. 
The amendments will require entities to 
provide disclosures that enable investors 
to evaluate changes in liabilities arising 
from financing activities, including changes 
arising from cash flows and non-cash 
changes. These amendments have not yet 
been endorsed by the EU. It is not expected 
that these amendments would be relevant 
to the Company.
 
In the 2010-2012 annual improvements 
cycle, the IASB issued amendments to 
seven standards which are effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 
February 2015. Summary of amendments 
and related standards are provided below:

n IFRS 2 Share-based Payments – amend-
ed definitions of ‘vesting conditions’ and 
‘market condition’ and adding the defini-
tions of ‘performance condition’ and ‘ser-
vice condition’;
n IFRS 3 Business Combinations – clari-
fication on the accounting for contingent 
consideration arising from business com-
bination;

n IFRS 8 Operating Segments – additional 
disclosures of management judgment on 
aggregating operating segments and clari-
fication on reconciliation of total segments’ 
assets to the entity’s assets;

n IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement – clarifi-
cation on interaction with IFRS 9 as regards 
short-term receivables and payables;

n IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment 
– amended to state that when an item of 
property, plant and equipment is revalued, 
the gross carrying amount is adjusted in a 
manner that is consistent with the revalua-
tion of the carrying amount while the accu-
mulated depreciation is calculated as a dif-
ference between the gross carrying amount 
and the carrying amount after taking into 
account accumulated impairment losses;

n IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures – clari-
fied that a management entity that provides 
key management services to a reporting 
entity is deemed to be a related party; dis-
closure of the service fee paid or payable 
is required;

n IAS 38 Intangible Assets – same amend-
ment as IAS 16 above.

The Bank is in the process of assessing the 
impact of the amendments on its financial 
statements. 

Annual improvements to IFRSs 2012 – 
2014 Cycle

The IASB has issued the Annual Im-
provements to IFRSs 2012 – 2014 Cycle, 
which is a collection of amendments to IF-
RSs. The amendments are effective for an-
nual periods beginning on 1 January 2016. 

n IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale 
and Discontinued Operations: The amend-
ment clarifies that changing from one of 
the disposal methods to the other (through 
sale or through distribution to the owners) 
should not be considered to be a new plan 
of disposal, rather it is a continuation of the 
original plan. There is therefore no interrup-
tion of the application of the requirements 
in IFRS 5. The amendment also clarifies 
that changing the disposal method does 
not change the date of classification.

n IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: 
The amendment clarifies that a servicing 
contract that includes a fee can constitute 
continuing involvement in a financial as-
set. Also, the amendment clarifies that the 
IFRS 7 disclosures relating to the offsetting 

of financial assets and financial liabilities 
are not required in the condensed interim 
financial report.

n IAS 19 Employee Benefits: The amendment 
clarifies that market depth of high quality 
corporate bonds is assessed based on 
the currency in which the obligation is 
denominated, rather than the country where 
the obligation is located. When there is no 
deep market for high quality corporate 
bonds in that currency, government bond 
rates must be used.

n IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting: The Bank 
does not report any general purpose interim 
financial statements. 

n  IFRS 10, 12 & IAS 28: Investment Entities: Applying 
the Consolidation Exception (Amendments). The 
amendments address three issues arising in 
practice in the application of the investment 
entities consolidation exception. 

The Bank does not meet the definition of 
Investment Entity and the amendments are 
not applicable. 

 

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)
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3. Significant accounting policies

(a) Statement of compliance  
The financial statements of the Bank have 
been prepared in accordance with Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Standards (IF-
RSs). 

(b) Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been pre-
pared on the historical cost basis except for 
the available-for-sale financial assets. 

(c) Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented 
in Albanian Lek (“Lek”), which is the Bank’s 
functional currency. 

(d) Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are trans-
lated to the functional currency at exchange 
rates at the dates of the transactions. Mon-
etary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies at the reporting date are 
retranslated to the functional currency at the 

exchange rate at that date. 

The foreign currency gain or loss on finan-
cial instruments held at amortized cost is 
the difference between amortised cost in the 
functional currency at the beginning of the 
period, adjusted for effective interest and 
payments during the period, and the amor-
tised cost in foreign currency translated at 
the exchange rate at the end of the period. 

(e) Interest
Interest income and expense are recognised 
in the Statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income using the effective 
interest method. 

The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts the estimated future cash 
payments and receipts through the expected 
life of the financial asset or liability (or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period) to the carrying 
amount of the financial asset or liability. The 
effective interest rate is established on initial 
recognition of the financial asset and liability 
and changes at each re-pricing date.

3. SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
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The calculation of the effective interest rate 
includes all fees paid or received, transac-
tion costs, and discounts or premiums that 
are an integral part of the effective inter-
est rate. Transaction costs are incremental 
costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition, issue or disposal of a financial 
asset or liability.

Interest income and expense presented in 
the Statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income include interest rec-
ognised on financial assets and liabilities, 
held at amortised cost, calculated using the 
effective interest rate method.

(f) Fees and commission
Fees and commission income and expenses 
that are integral to the effective interest rate 
on a financial asset or liability are included 

in the measurement interest income or ex-
penses calculated using the effective inter-
est rate method. Loan commitment fees 
for loans that are likely to be drawn down 
and other credit related fees are deferred 
(together with any incremental costs) and 
recognised as an adjustment to the EIR on 
the loan.

Other fees and commission income, includ-
ing account servicing fees, sales commis-
sion, placement fees, are recognised when 
the related services are performed. 

Other fees and commission expense related 
mainly to transaction and service fees, are 
expensed as the services are received.
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(g) Operating lease payments 
Payments made under operating leases 
are recognised in Statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income 
on a straight-line basis over the term of 
the lease. Lease incentives received are 
recognised as an integral part of the total 
lease expense, over the term of the lease. 

(h) Operating expenses
The operating expenses are recognized 
when incurred.

(i) Defined contribution plans
Obligations for contributions to defined 
contribution pension plans are recognised 
as an expense in the Statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income 
when they are due. The Bank makes only 
compulsory social security contributions 
that provide pension benefits for employ-
ees upon retirement. The local authorities 
are responsible for providing the legally 

set minimum threshold for pensions in 
Albania under a defined contribution pen-
sion plan. 

(j) Income tax expense
Income tax expense comprises current 
and deferred tax. Income tax expense is 
recognized in the Statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income ex-
cept to the extent that it relates to items 
recognized directly in equity, in which 
case it is recognized in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on 
the taxable income for the year, using tax 
rates enacted or substantively enacted at 
the reporting date, and any adjustment to 
tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided using the state-
ment of financial position method, provid-
ing for temporary differences between the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 

for financial reporting purposes and their 
tax base. Deferred tax is measured at the 
tax rates that are expected to be applied 
to the temporary differences when they 
reverse, based on the laws that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the 
reporting date. Deferred tax liabilities are 
recognized for all taxable temporary dif-
ferences.

A deferred tax asset is recognized only to 
the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profits will be available against 
which the deductible temporary differenc-
es can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are 
reviewed at each reporting date and are 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that the related tax benefit will 
be realized.

Additional income taxes that arise from 
the distribution of dividends are recog-
nized at the same time as the liability to 
pay the related dividend is recognized.

(k) Financial assets and liabilities

(i) Recognition
The Bank initially recognizes loans and 
advances, and deposits, on the date that 
they are originated. All other financial as-
sets and liabilities are initially recognized 
on the trade date at which the Bank be-
comes a party to the contractual provi-
sions of the instrument.

(ii) Derecognition
The Bank derecognizes a financial asset 
when the contractual rights to the cash 
flows from the asset expire, or it transfers 
the rights to receive the contractual cash 
flows on the financial asset in a transac-
tion in which substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of the financial as-
set are transferred. Any interest in trans-
ferred financial assets that is created or 
retained by the Bank is recognized as a 
separate asset or liability.
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3.SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3. Significant accounting policies 
(continued)

(k)   Financial assets and liabilities (contin-
ued)

(ii)     Derecognition (continued)

The Bank derecognizes a financial liabil-
ity when its contractual obligations are dis-
charged or cancelled or expire.

The Bank enters into transactions whereby 
it transfers assets recognized on its state-
ment of financial position, but retains either 
all risks or rewards of the transferred assets, 
or a portion of them.If all or substantially 
all risks and rewards are retained, then the 
transferred assets are not derecognized 
from the statement of financial position. 
Transfers of assets with retention of all or 
substantially all risks and rewards include, 
for example, securities lending and repur-
chase transactions. 

When assets are sold to a third party with a 
concurrent total rate of return swap on the 
transferred assets, the transaction is ac-
counted for as a secured financing transac-
tion similar to repurchase transactions. In 
transactions where the Bank neither retains 
nor transfers substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of a financial asset, 
it derecognizes the asset if control over the 
asset is lost.

The rights and obligations retained in the 
transfer are recognized separately as assets 
and liabilities as appropriate. In transfers 
where control over the asset is retained, the 
Bank continues to recognize the asset to the 
extent of its continuing involvement, deter-
mined by the extent to which it is exposed 
to changes in the value of the transferred 
asset.

The Bank also derecognizes certain assets 
when it writes off balances pertaining to the 
assets deemed to be uncollectible (note 4).

(iii) Offsetting
The Bank does not offset assets and li-
abilities or income and expenses, unless 
required or permitted by an IFRS. In addi-
tion, the Bank presents on a net basis gains 
and losses arising from a group of similar 
transactions, for example, foreign exchange 
gains and losses. However, the Bank pres-
ents such gains and losses separately if they 
are material.

(iv) Amortized cost measurement 
The amortised cost of a financial asset or li-
ability is the amount at which the financial 
asset or liability is measured at initial recog-
nition, minus principal repayments, plus or 
minus the cumulative amortization using the 
effective interest method of any difference 
between the initial amount recognised and 
the maturity amount, minus any reduction 
for impairment.

(v) Fair value measurement
The determination of fair values of finan-
cial assets and financial liabilities is based 
on quoted market prices or dealer price 
quotations for financial instruments traded 
in active markets. For all other financial in-
struments fair value is determined by using 
valuation techniques. Valuation techniques 
include net present value techniques, the 
discounted cash flow method, comparison 
to similar instruments for which market ob-
servable prices exist, and valuation models.

The Bank measures fair values using the fol-
lowing fair value hierarchy that reflects the 
significance of the inputs used in making the 
measurements:

Level 1: Quoted market price (unadjusted) in 
an active market for an identical instrument.

3.SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3. Significant accounting policies 
(continued)

(k)     Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
(v)     Fair value measurement (continued)

Level 2: Valuation techniques based on 
observable inputs, either directly (i.e., as 
prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices). 

This category includes instruments valued 
using: quoted market prices in active 
markets for similar instruments; quoted 
prices for identical or similar instruments 
in markets that are considered less than 
active; or other valuation techniques where 
all significant inputs are directly or indirectly 
observable from market data.

Level 3: Valuation techniques using 
significant unobservable inputs. This 
category includes all instruments where 
the valuation technique includes inputs 
not based on observable data and the 
unobservable inputs have a significant effect 
on the instrument's valuation. This category 
includes instruments that are valued based 
on quoted prices for similar instruments 
where significant unobservable adjustments 
or assumptions are required to reflect 
differences between the instruments.

The Bank uses widely recognised valuation 
models for determining the fair value of 
financial instruments. For these financial 
instruments, inputs into models are market 
observable. Valuation techniques include 
net present value and discounted cash flow 
models, comparison to similar instruments 
for which market observable prices exist, 
and valuation techniques based on a current 
yield curve appropriate for the remaining 
term to maturity. The objective of valuation 
techniques is to arrive at the determination 

of a fair value that reflects the price of the 
financial instrument at the reporting date, 
which would have been determined by 
market participants acting at arm's length.

(vi) Identification and measurement of 
impairment
At each reporting date the Bank assesses 
whether there is objective evidence that 
financial asset, other than those that are 
carried at fair value through profit or loss, 
are impaired. Financial assets are impaired 
when objective evidence demonstrates that 
a loss event has occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset, and that the loss 
event has an impact on the future cash flows 
on the asset that can be estimated reliably. 
The Bank considers evidence of impairment 
at both a specific asset and collective level. 
All individually significant financial assets 
are assessed for specific impairment. 
All significant assets that are found not 
impaired from the individual assessment, are 
then collectively assessed for impairment 
by grouping together financial assets 
(carried at amortised cost) with similar risk 
characteristics. 

Objective evidence that financial assets are 
impaired can include default or delinquency 
by a borrower, restructuring of a loan 
or advance by the Bank on terms that 
the Bank would not otherwise consider, 
indications that a borrower or issuer will 
enter bankruptcy, the disappearance of 
an active market for a security, or other 
observable data relating to a group of assets 
such as adverse changes in the payment 
status of borrowers or issuers in the Bank, 
or economic conditions that correlate with 
defaults in the Bank.

In assessing collective impairment the 
Bank uses statistical modelling of historical 
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trends of the probability of default, timing of 
recoveries and the amount of loss incurred. 
Default rates, loss rates and the expected 
timing of future recoveries are benchmarked 
against actual outcomes to ensure that they 
remain appropriate.

Impairment losses on assets carried 
at amortised cost are measured as the 
difference between the carrying amount of 
the financial assets and the present value 
of estimated cash flows discounted at 
the assets’ original effective interest rate. 
Losses are recognised in profit or loss and 
reflected in an allowance account against 
loans and advances. 

 
3. Significant accounting policies 
(continued)

(k) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
(vi) Identification and measurement of 
impairment (continued)

When a subsequent event causes the 
amount of impairment loss to decrease, 
the impairment loss is reversed through 
Statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income.

(l) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include notes 
and coins on hand, unrestricted balances 
held with central banks and highly liquid 
financial assets with original maturities of 
less than three months, which are subject 
to insignificant risk of changes in their fair 
value, and are used by the Bank in the 
management of its short-term commitments. 

(m) Loans and advances
Loans and advances are non-derivative 
financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active 
market and that the Bank does not intend to 
sell immediately or in the near term.

When the Bank purchases a financial asset 
and simultaneously enters into an agreement 
to resell the asset (or a substantially 
similar asset) at a fixed price on a future 
date (“reverse repo”), the arrangement is 
accounted for as a loan or advance, and 
the underlying asset is not recognised in the 
Bank’s financial statements.

Loans and advances are initially recognised 
at fair value plus incremental direct 
transaction costs, and subsequently 
measured at their amortised cost using the 
effective interest method.

(n) Investment securities
Investment securities are initially measured at 
fair value plus incremental direct transaction 
costs and subsequently accounted for 
depending on their classification as either 
held-to-maturity, or available-for-sale.

(i) Held-to-maturity
Held-to-maturity investments are assets with 
fixed or determinable payments and fixed 
maturity that the Bank has the positive intent 
and ability to hold to maturity, and which are 
not designated at fair value through profit or 
loss or available-for-sale. Held-to-maturity 
investments are carried at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. 

Any sale or reclassification of a significant 
amount of held-to-maturity investments 
not close to their maturity would result in 

3.SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

the reclassification of all held-to-maturity 
investments as available-for-sale, and 
prevent the Bank from classifying investment 
securities as held-to-maturity for the current 
and the following two financial years.

(ii) Available-for-sale
Available-for-sale investments are non-
derivative investments that are not 
designated as another category of financial 
assets.

All available-for-sale investments are carried 
at fair value. 

 
3. Significant accounting policies 
(continued)

(n) Investment securities (continued)
(vi) Available-for-sale (continued)

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss 
using the effective interest method. Foreign 
exchange gains or losses on available-
for-sale debt security investments are 
recognised in Statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income.

A gain or loss on an available-for-sale 
financial asset shall be recognised in 
other comprehensive income, except for 
impairment losses and foreign exchange 
gains and losses, until the financial asset is 
derecognised. At that time the cumulative 

gain or loss previously recognised in 
other comprehensive income shall be 
reclassified from equity to profit or loss as 
a reclassification adjustment. However, 
interest calculated using the effective 
interest method is recognised in Statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income.

(o) Property and equipment
(i) Recognition and measurement
Items of property and equipment are 
measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses.

(ii) Subsequent costs
The cost of replacing part of an item of 
property or equipment is recognised in the 
carrying amount of the item if it is probable 
that the future economic benefits embodied 
within the part will flow to the Bank and its 
cost can be measured reliably. The costs 
of the day-to-day servicing of property and 
equipment are recognised in Statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income as incurred.

(iii) Depreciation
Depreciation is recognised in Statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful lives of each part of an item 
of property and equipment. Improvements 
to leased assets are depreciated over the 
shorter of the lease term and their useful 
lives. 

3.SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
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(in years)

Buildings 30

Computers and IT equipment 5

Installations and various equipment 5

Office furniture 10

Motor vehicles 5

Leasehold improvements 5

Depreciation methods, useful lives and 
residual values are reassessed at the 
reporting date. Depreciation is not provided 
on construction-in-progress. 

(p) Intangible assets
Software acquired by the Bank is stated 
at cost less accumulated amortisation 
and accumulated impairment losses. 
Subsequent expenditure on software assets 
is capitalised only when it increases the 
future economic benefits embodied in the 
specific asset to which it relates. All other 
expenditure is expensed as incurred.

Amortisation is recognised in the statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful life of the software, from 
the date that it is available for use. The 
estimate useful life of software is ten years.

 

3. Significant accounting policies 
(continued)

(q) Impairment of non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of the Bank’s non-
financial assets, other than deferred tax 
assets, are reviewed at each reporting date 
to determine whether there is any indication 
of impairment. If any such indication exists 
then the asset’s recoverable amount is 
estimated. 

An impairment loss is recognised if the car-
rying amount of an asset or its cash-gener-
ating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. 
A cash-generating unit is the smallest iden-
tifiable asset group that generates cash 
flows that largely are independent from 
other assets and groups. Impairment losses 
are recognised in Statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income. 

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-
generating unit is the greater of its value in 
use and its fair value less costs to sell.

In assessing value in use, the estimated 
future cash flows are discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate 
that reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset. 

Impairment losses recognised in prior 
periods are assessed at each reporting 
date for any indications that the loss 
has decreased or no longer exists. An 
impairment loss is reversed if there has 
been a change in the estimates used to 
determine the recoverable amount. An 
impairment loss is reversed only to the 
extent that the asset’s carrying amount does 
not exceed the carrying amount that would 
have been determined, net of depreciation 
or amortisation, if no impairment loss had 
been recognised.

(r) Deposits and other financial liabilities
Deposits and other financial liabilities are 
part of the Bank’s sources of debt funding. 

When the Bank sells a financial asset 
and simultaneously enters into a “repo” 
agreement to repurchase the asset (or a 

similar asset) at a fixed price on a future 
date, the arrangement is accounted for as a 
deposit, and the underlying asset continues 
to be recognised in the Bank’s financial 
statements.

The Bank classifies capital instruments as 
financial liabilities or equity instruments 
in accordance with the substance of the 
contractual terms of the instrument. 

Deposits and other financial liabilities 
are initially measured at fair value plus 
transaction costs, and subsequently 
measured at their amortised cost using the 
effective interest method.

(s) Provisions
A provision is recognised if, as a result of 
a past event, the Bank has a present legal 
or constructive obligation that can be 
estimated reliably, and it is probable that 
an outflow of economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation. 

Provisions are determined by discounting 
the expected future cash flows at a pre-
tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money 
and, where appropriate, the risks specific to 
the liability.
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3.SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.Significant accounting 
policies (continued)

(t) Disclosure of fair value 
Loans and advances to banks and financial 
institutions

Loans and advances to banks include 
inter-bank placements. Their fair value is 
considered to approximate their carrying 
amount due to either their short-term 
nature or underlying interest rates, which 
approximate market rates.

Loans and advances to customers
Loans and advances are presented net 
of allowances for impairment. The Bank’s 
loan portfolio has an estimated fair value 

approximately equal to its book value due 
to the floating nature of interest rates, with 
loans being repriced within one year cycle, 
with the exception of a bucket of loans 
granted in 2008 which were granted without 
a minimum floor applicable. 

Due to other banks and customers
Fair value of term deposits approximates 
the carrying amount due to their short 
term maturity nature, with concentration of 
deposits being within the [0:1 Year] bucket.

The following table summarizes the fair 
value of financial instruments according 
to their classification in the statement of 
financial position .

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Financial Assets and Liabilities Carrying 
Amount

Fair 
Value

Carrying 
Amount

Fair 
Value

Financial Assets  

Cash and cash equivalents 3,005,695 3,005,695 2,988,764 2,988,764

Restricted balances with Central Bank 5,605,130 5,605,130 5,756,788 5,756,788

Loans and advances to banks 1,291,240 1,291,240 1,187,751 1,187,751

Investment securities 19,995,349 19,995,349 20,514,693 20,514,693

Loans and advances to customers 40,536,932 40,565,444 38,539,789 38,439,929

Financial Leasing Contracts 592,504 592,504 516,052 516,052

Total Financial Assets 71,026,851 71,055,362 69,503,837 69,403,977

Financial Liabilities

Loans and advances from financial institutions 4,940,172 4,940,172 4,026,273 4,026,273

Due to customers 59,496,585 59,496,585 58,899,592 58,899,592

Total Financial Liabilities 64,436,757 64,436,757  62,925,865  62,925,865 

3.SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(t)     Disclosure of fair value (continued)
As at 31 December 2015 and 2014 all finan-
cial instruments are measured at amortized 
cost, except for investment in securities 
which are measure at fair value. Fair values 

as at 31 December 2015 and 2014 for in-
vestment securities have been measured 
based on Level 2 hierarchy. For assets ac-
quired through adjudication, the fair value 
has been determined based on Level 3 hi-
erarchy. 

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Assets Carrying 
Amount

Amortized 
Cost

Vlera e drejtë
Carrying 
Amount

Amortized 
Cost

Vlera e drejtë

Level 
1

Level 
2

Level 
3 

Level 
1

Level 
2

Level 
3 

Cash and cash 
equivalents

3,005,695 3,005,695 - - - 2,988,764 2,988,764 - - -

Restricted balances 
with Central Bank 5,605,130 5,605,130 - - - 5,756,788 5,756,788 - - -

Loans and 
advances to banks

1,291,240 1,291,240 - - - 1,187,751 1,187,751 - - -

Investment securities 19,995,349 - - 19,995,349 - 20,514,693 - - 20,514,693 -

Loans and advances 
to customers

40,536,932 40,536,932 - - - 38,539,789 38,539,789 - - -

Financial Leasing 
Contracts

592,504 592,504 - - - 516,052 516,052 - - -

Other assets 325,675 325,675 - - - 303,744 303,744 - - -

Total assets 71,352,525 51,357,177 - 19,995,349 - 69,807,581 49,292,888 - 20,514,693 -

Liabilities -

Loans and advances 
from financial 
institutions

4,940,172 4,940,172 - - - 4,026,273 4,026,273 - - -

Due to customers 59,496,585 59,496,585 - - - 58,899,592 58,899,592 - - -

Other liabilities 361,358 361,358 - - - 407,987 407,987 - - -

Income tax 
to be paid

- - - - - 10,486 10,486 - - -

 64,798,115  64,798,115 - - - 63,344,338 63,344,338 - - -

Total liabilities and 
shareholder’s equity 64,798,115 64,798,115 - - - 63,344,338 63,344,338 - - -
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4.Use of estimates and judgments

Management discussed with the Board of 
Directors the development, selection and 
disclosure of the Bank’s critical accounting 
policies and estimates, and the application 
of these policies and estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions 
are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions 
to accounting estimates are recognised in 
the period in which the estimate is revised 
if the revision affects only that period or in 
the period of the revision and future periods 
if the revision affects both current and future 
periods. These disclosures supplement the 
commentary on financial risk management 
(see note 31).

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Allowances for credit losses

When assessing financial assets individu-
ally for impairment the management has 
to make estimates of the present value 
of the cash flows that are expected to be 
received. In estimating these cash flows, 
management makes judgements about the 

4.USE OF ESTIMATES 
AND JUDGMENTS

counterparty’s financial situation and the 
net realisable value of any underlying col-
lateral. Each impaired asset is assessed 
on its merits, the workout strategy and 
estimate of cash flows considered recov-
erable are independently estimated by the 
Credit Risk function. 

Collectively assessed impairment allow-
ances cover credit losses inherent in port-
folios of financial assets with similar eco-
nomic characteristics when there is objec-
tive evidence to suggest that they contain 
impaired exposures that cannot be identi-
fied individually yet. In assessing the need 
for collective loan loss allowances, man-
agement considers factors such as credit 
quality, portfolio size, concentrations, and 
economic factors. In order to estimate 
the required allowance, assumptions are 
made to define the way inherent losses are 
modelled and to determine the required in-
put parameters, based on historical expe-
rience and current economic conditions. 
The accuracy of the allowances depends 
on the accuracy of the estimated future 
cash flows for specific counterparty al-
lowances and the model assumptions and 
parameters used in determining collective 
allowances. 

5.Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2015 and 2014 are detailed as follows:

5.CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS

The annual interest rates applied for term deposits with resident banks for the year ended 31 
December 2015 range from 0.20% to 2.35% (2014: 0.75% to 3.09%) and for term deposits 
with non-resident banks from 0.04% to 0.48% (2014: 0.01% to 0.55%). 

31 December  2015 31 December  2014

Cash on hand

In Lek            551,017            518,329 

In foreign currencies            425,031            327,458 

Current accounts with Central Bank                 5,513              15,587 

Current accounts with other banks            877,839         1,431,034 

Money market placements         1,146,295            696,356 

Total                 3,005,695          2,988,764 

31 
December 

2015

31 
December 

2014

Austria 1,500 425,824

France 571,756 388,876

Albania 617 583

Germany 279,482 604,844

Switzerland 5,655 9,445

USA 7,984 -

Great Britain 10,845 1,462

Total 877,839 1,431,034

31 
December 

2015

31 
December 

2014

Italy - 191,852

Albania - 504,504

France 978,362 -

Austria 167,933 -

Total 1,146,295 696,356

Current accounts with other banks as at 31 
December 2015 and 2014 are detailed geo-
graphically as follows:

Money market placements as at 31 Decem-
ber 2015 and 2014 are detailed geographi-
cally as follows and maturities vary from 5 
– 8 days:
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6. Restricted balances with Central Bank 

In accordance with the Central Bank’s requirements relating to the deposit reserve, the 
Bank should maintain as statutory reserve at the Central Bank a restricted balance, which 
should not be lower than 10% of customer deposits of the Bank.

Interest on statutory reserve in the Central Bank is calculated as follows:

 
- LEK: 70% of the repurchase agreements rate: 1.225% p.a. as of 31 December 2015 
   (31 December 2014: 1.58% p.a.);
- USD: 0% as of 31 December 2015 (31 December 2014: 0.00% p.a.);
- EUR: 0% as of 31 December 2015 (31 December 2014: 0.00% p.a.).

7. Loans and advances to financial institutions

Loans and advances to financial institutions as at 31 December 2015 and 2014 are 
detailed as follows:

31 December  2015 31 December 2014

Resident
Loans to financial institution

1,278,661 1,060,998 

Non-resident
Escrow accounts for bank guarantees

12,579 126,753

Total 1,291,240 1,187,751

6. RESTRICTED BALANCES 
WITH CENTRAL BANK
7. LOANS AND ADVANCES 
TO FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

8. Available-for-sale investments

Available-for-sale investments as at 31 December 2015 and 2014 are detailed as follows:
 

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Treasury bills (8.1)            2,869,005 3,886,376

Government bonds (8.2)          17,126,344 16,628,316

Total 19,995,349 20,514,693

Bonot e thesarit sipas maturimit kontraktual detajohen si më poshtë:

31 December 2015

Maturity Nominal 
Value

(Discount)/ 
Premium

Accrued 
interest

Revaluation 
Difference

Carrying 
value

3 months -   -   -   -   -   

6 months -   -   -   -   -   

12 months 2,900,000 (92,039) 48,668 12,376 2,869,005 

2,900,000 (92,039) 48,668 12,376 2,869,005 

                                                8.1 Treasury bills

31 December 2014

Maturity Nominal 
Value

(Discount)/ 
Premium

Accrued 
interest

Revaluation 
Difference

Carrying 
value

3 months 890,000 (6,781) 1,173 (402) 883,990

6 months - - - - -

12 months 3,050,000 (95,407) 48,978 (1,185) 3,002,386

3,940,000 (102,187) 50,151 (1,588) 3,886,376

The effective yield on treasury bills as at 31 December 2015 range from 3.03% to 3.53% (31 December 2014: from 2.85% 
to 3.78%). 

8. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS
8.1 TREASURY BILLS
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8. Available-for-sale investments (continued)

8.2 Government bonds

Government bonds by maturity are detailed as follows:

31 December 2015

Maturity Nominal 
Value

(Discount)/ 
Premium

Accrued 
interest

Fair Value 
difference

Carrying 
value

G. Bonds 24 months 3,580,000 92 39,115 9,024 3,628,231

G. Bonds 36 months 1,086,667 1,388 26,028 5,462 1,119,545

G. Bonds 60 months 5,790,000 10,801 83,877 (43,033) 5,841,645

G. Bonds 84 months 1,000,000 -   20,526 28,502 1,049,028

G. Bonds 120 months 1,680,000 1,504 60,883 59,986 1,802,373

Euro Bond 2,608,320 (13,403) 20,134 31,388 2,646,439

G.Bonds 24 months EUR 1,029,600 330 9,153 -   1,039,083

16,774,587 712 259,716 91,329 17,126,344

31 December 2014

Maturity Nominal 
Value

(Discount)/ 
Premium

Accrued 
interest

Fair Value 
difference

Carrying 
value

G. Bonds 24 months 4,130,000 446 53,239 2,851 4,186,537

G. Bonds 36 months 1,036,667 3,174 27,551 5,412 1,072,803

G. Bonds 60 months 5,690,000 239 87,267 28,023 5,805,529

G. Bonds 84 months 1,000,000 - 20,667 (2,024) 1,018,643

G. Bonds 120 months 1,680,000 1,696 60,883 18,214 1,760,793

Euro Bond 2,102,100 (1,787) 24,620 - 2,124,933

G.Bonds 24 months EUR 658,658 - 420 - 659,078

16,297,425 3,769 274,646 52,476 16,628,316

The interest of Government bonds is received semi-annually at a coupon rate as at 31 December 2015 ranging from 4.57% 
to 5.72% (31 December 2014: from 4.69% to 9.25%). In November 2015, the Bank has participated in the Eurobond 
issuance of EUR 19,000 thousand with an annual interest rate of 5.75%. During 2015 the Bank invested in Government 
Bonds issuance of EUR 7,500 thousand with an annual interest rate of 3.12%. 

8. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 
(CONTINUED)
8.2 GOVERNMENT BONDS

8.3 MOVEMENTS IN AVAILABLE
-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

8.3 Movements in Available-for-sale investments

The table below shows the movements in the balances of available for sale as at 31 December 
2015 and 31 December 2014, including additions, maturing and sale of investments during 
these years:
 

Movements in Available-for-sale

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Opening Balance on 1 Jan          20,514,693           17,536,082 

Additions          11,459,171           12,965,337 

Maturing        (11,956,979)            (9,795,520)

Accrued interest fluctuation                (16,414)                  (16,990)

FV fluctuations                  52,816               (168,930)

FX Effect                (57,938)                    (5,286)

Closing Balance on 31 Dec 19,995,349            20,514,693 

As at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014 the Bank holds no held-to-maturity 
securities. 
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9. Loans and advances to customers, net

9.1. Loans to customers net

Loans to customers, net as at 31 December 2015 and 2014 are detailed as follows:
 

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Private entrepreneurs and enterprises 27,879,547        28,663,153  

Individuals 14,451,693         11,297,430

Accrued interest 147,230              146,837 

42,478,470         40,107,420 

Less allowance for impairment (1,941,538) (1,567,631)

Total 40,536,932 38,539,789

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Term Loans 29,489,520 27,189,214 

Overdrafts 12,988,951 12,918,206 

Total 42,478,470 40,107,420  

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Bank has written off 212 loans (2014: 96 
loans) for an amount of Lek 667,171 thousand (2014: Lek 44,749 thousand).

Allowances for impairment are detailed as follows for the year ended 31 December 2015 
and 2014: 

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Impairment on loans to customers        1,909,357                 1,530,550 

Impairment on other debtor balances             32,181                      37,080 

Total        1,941,538                 1,567,631 

9. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS, NET
9.1. LOANS TO CUSTOMERS NET

9. LOANS AND ADVANCES 
TO CUSTOMERS, NET (CONTINUED)
9.1. LOANS TO CUSTOMERS 
NET (CONTINUED)

9. Loans and advances to customers, net (continued)
9.1. Loans to customers net (continued)

Movements in the impairment for loan losses by classes of loans and advances, and type of 
impairment for the year ending on 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014 are presented 
below: 

31 December 2015 (in Lek '000)  Corporate 
Lending 

 Private 
individuals 

Lending 

Mortage 
Lending Total

Balance at 31 December 2013 775,411        221,644  113,968 1,111,023

Allowance for loan loss impairment 505,289 67,305 58,798 631,393

Recoveries (95,117) (4,838) - (99,956)

Write off (5,127) (25,654) (13,968) (44,749)

Effect of foreign currency movements (15,711) (14,369) - (30,080)

Balance at 31 December 2014 1,164,744 244,088 158,798 1,567,631

Allowance for loan loss impairment 789,224 168,142 163,743 1,121,109

Recoveries (10,962) (23,534) (45,153) (79,649)

Write off (390,149) (121,572) (176,509) (688,231)

Effect of foreign currency movements 6,371 1,112 13,195 20,678

Balance at 31 December 2015 1,559,228 268,236 114,074 1,941,538

As at 31 December 2014

Individual impairment 771,422 169,811 98,858 1,040,091

Collective impairment 393,322 74,277 59,940 527,539

1,164,744 244,088 158,798 1,567,631

As at 31 December 2015

Individual ipmairment 1,143,814 193,775 45,098 1,382,687

Collective impairment 415,414 74,460 68,976 558,851

1,559,228 268,236 114,074 1,941,538

Gross amount of loans individually determined to be 
impaired, before deducting the individually assessed 
impairment allowance

2,249,444 211,933 247,456 2,708,833
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9. LOANS AND ADVANCES 
TO CUSTOMERS, NET (CONTINUED)
9.2. FINANCIAL LEASES RECEIVABLE NET 

9. Loans and advances to customers, net (continued)

9.2. Financial Leases Receivable Net 

 

Gross investment in 
financial leases, receivable 31 December 2015 31 December 2014

 - Less than one year 35,906 39,604

 - Between one and five years 625,144 564,604

 - More than five years 23,254 28,292

684,304 632,500

Less unearned finance income (73,670) (72,932)

Net Investments in Financial Leases 610,634 559,567

Less impairment allowance (18,130) (43,515)

Total 592,504 516,052

Movements in the allowance for impairment related to financial leases contracts for the year 
ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 is presented as follows:

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

At the beginning of the period 43,515 4,600

Allowance charges for loan loss 
impairment

1,561 39,673

Allowance releases for loan loss 
impairment

(26,947) (758)

At the end of period 18,130 43,515

10. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

10. Property and equipment, net

Cost Buildings
Computers 

and IT 
equipment

Furniture 
and office 

equipment

Motor 
vehicles

Leasehold 
improvements In progress Total

At 31 December 2013 387,078 479,620 449,185 32,123 291,145 60,158 1,699,309

Additions - 14,209 6,161 - 4,951 50,206 75,527

Sale - (25,295) (3,842) - - (14,784) (43,921)

Transfers - (170) 170 - - (11,359) (11,359)

At 31 December 2014 387,078 468,364 451,674 32,123 296,096 84,221 1,719,556

Additions - 11,667 9,651 8,813 18,509 64,894 113,534

Sale - (3,345) (9,265) - - - (12,610)

Transfers - 19,904 1,022 - - (81,008) (60,082)

At 31 December 2015 387,078 496,590 453,082 40,936 314,605 68,107 1,760,398

Accumulated 
depreciation

At 31 December 2013 (45,137) (404,103) (339,960) (21,755) (239,969) - (1,050,924)

Charge for the year (13,440) (34,736) (31,950) (4,178) (18,550) - (102,854)

Disposals - 25,235 3,012 - - - 28,247

At 31 December 2014 (58,577) (413,604) (368,898) (25,933) (258,519) - (1,125,531)

Charge for the year (13,440) (24,950) (26,077) (4,215) (18,631) (87,313)

Disposals - 3,392 8,487 - - - 11,879

At 31 December 2015 (72,017) (435,162) (386,488) (30,148) (277,150) - (1,200,965)

Net carrying value

At 31 December 2014 328,501 54,760 82,776 6,190 37,577 84,221 594,027

At 31 December 2015 315,061 61,428 66,594 10,788 37,455 68,107 559,433
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11. Intangible assets, net

Software

Cost

At 31 December 2013 440,892

Additions 3,659

Transfers 11,359

At 31 December 2014 455,910

Additions 3,772

Transfers 60,083

At 31 December 2015 519,765

Accumulated amortization

At 31 December 2013 (183,226)

Charge for the year (49,018)

At 31 December 2014 (232,244)

Charge for the year (47,389)

At 31 December 2015 (279,633)

Net carrying value

At 31 December 2014 223,666

At 31 December 2015 240,132

12. Assets acquired through adjudication

As at 31 December 2015 non-current assets acquired through adjudication of Lek 
1,125,712thousand (31 December 2014: Lek 901,994 thousand) represent assets taken 
in property from the execution of non-performing loans collaterals. The above values 
represent the lowest of the carrying amount as of December 31st and of their net realizable 
value less cost to sell. 

11. INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET

 

 31 December 2015  31 December 2014

Opening balance at 1 January               901,994 780,715

Additions 312,505 131,009

Disposals (22,967) (9,539)

Impairment of assets (67,526) -

FX effect 1,706 (191)

Closing balance at 31 December                1,125,712 901,994

The Bank’s policy for write-off of assets acquired through adjudication is when there is no 
expectation to recover any proceeds from these assets, either through their sale, use or rent. 

The Bank’s policy for disposal of assets acquired through adjudication is to assess offers 
received potential interested parties in acquiring the assets(s). The Bank discloses all of 
its repossessed assets in its external website, which is viewable from all users, and gives 
necessary information on the properties that the Bank holds and intends to sell. On a 
monthly basis a Committee is met and discusses about new developments in the real estate 
markets and potential opportunities that exist in selling the assets and offers received. Once 
a decision is taken the Bank makes negotiations in with regards to the price of the asset to 
be sold.  
 

13. Other assets

Other assets as at 31 December 2015 and 2014 are detailed as follows:

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Debtors 161,820               235,536 

Prepayments 34,030 32,055                 

Inventory 24,737                 20,235

Clearing accounts 105,088                 15,918 

- for MoneyGram transactions 8,284 6,580

- for ATM transactions 5,015 9,331

- for operational transactions 1,265 8

- wfor finance lease contracts 90,524 -

Total 325,675 303,744

12. ASSETS ACQUIRED 
THROUGH ADJUDICATION
13. OTHER ASSETS
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14. DUE TO FINANCIAL 
INSTITUTIONS

As at December 31, 2015 the Bank entered into a leasing contract for acquiring equipment 
and vehicles to be leased out to a customer. The customer paid 30% of the total asset’s 
value, and the Bank made a prepayment for 70% of that value, amounting LEK 90,524 
thousands. As at December 31, 2015 the assets have not yet been cleared from the 
customs’ office. As the Bank did not receive these assets into possession it has not yet 
disbursed the finance lease. Therefore, the amount prepaid by the Bank for acquiring these 
assets is presented as prepayments to be cleared upon final delivery of the assets. 

14. Due to financial institutions
Due to financial institutions as at 31 December 2015 and 2014 are detailed as follows:

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Term deposits 2,072,041 1,746,259

Resident 2,072,041 1,746,259

Non Resident - -

Current accounts 374,120 209,440

Resident 330,874 198,247

Non Resident 43,246 11,193

Repurchase agreement with 
Central Bank 328,491 -

Borrowings from banks 2,165,520 2,070,575

Resident 2,165,520 2,070,575

Non Resident - -

Total 4,940,172 4,026,273

Term deposits and current accounts relate to balances with financial institutions, mainly 
insurance companies which are required to maintain guarantee funds with commercial 
banks.  Term deposits as at 31 December 2015 bear an interest rate ranging from 0.75% to 
2.35% p.a. (31 December 2014: from 1.3% to 4.0% p.a.) for Lek, from 0.10% to 4.00% p.a. 
(31 December 2014: from 0.65% to 4.2% p.a.) for Euro and from 0.50% to 0.70% (2014: 
0.7% to 0.75%) in USD.

Borrowings from banks as at 31 December 2015 represent a 1-32 days maturity borrowing 
in Lek, Euro and USD from local banks.

The level of repurchase agreement with Central Bank as at 31 December 2015is LEK 
328,491 thousand bearing an interest from 1.75% to 1.77% while in 2014, the bank had no 
repurchase agreement with Central Bank. 

 
 

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Local 
currency

Foreign 
currency Total Local 

currency
Foreign 

currency Total

Current accounts

Individuals 1,922,979 2,554,180 4,477,159 1,490,317 1,938,888 3,429,205

Private enterprises 2,161,792 3,060,211 5,222,003 1,593,637 1,571,266 3,164,904

Public enterprises 187,586 16,935 204,521 671,490 36,590 708,079

Public administration - - - - - -

4,272,357 5,631,326 9,903,683 3,755,444 3,546,744 7,302,188

Savings accounts

Individuals 1,377,137 2,324,854 3,701,991 1,286,458 1,875,113 3,161,571

Private enterprises 429,615 1,032,445 1,462,060 390,227 447,917 838,144

1,806,752 3,357,299 5,164,051 1,676,685 2,323,030 3,999,715

Term deposits

Individuals 20,777,189 21,531,895 42,309,084 21,514,568 22,563,417 44,077,985

Private enterprises 905,083 799,059 1,704,142 1,683,494 1,257,302 2,940,795

Public enterprises - - - - - -

21,682,272 22,330,954 44,013,226 23,198,061 23,820,719 47,018,780

Other accounts

Individuals 18,252 17 18,269 431 17 448

Private enterprises 6,192 1,041 7,233 12,861 1,540 14,401

Public enterprises 34 - 34 34 - 34

24,478 1,058 25,536 13,326 1,557 14,883

Accrued interest 259,867 130,222 390,089 355,313 208,714 564,026

Total 28,045,726 31,450,858 59,496,585 28,998,829 29,900,763 58,899,592

15. Due to customers
Due to customers as at 31 December 2015 and 2014 are detailed as follows:

Current accounts bear an interest rate of 0.01% p.a. while saving accounts bear an interest rate of 0.01% to 1.0% p.a. 
Term deposits as at 31 December 2015 bear an interest ranging from 0.01% to 6.80% p.a. (31 December 2014: from 
0.15% to 3.0% p.a.) for Lek, and from 0.05% to 5.00% (31 December 2014: from 0.1% to 5.0%) for foreign currencies. 
Other customer accounts represent guarantee accounts of Lek 25,536 thousand (2014: Lek 14,883 thousand) which as 
at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014, bear no interest.

15. DUE TO CUSTOMERS
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15. DUE TO CUSTOMERS 
(CONTINUED)

15. DUE TO CUSTOMERS (CONTINUED)

31 December  2015 31 December  2014

One month:

Foreign currency        1,104,635        1,421,662 

Local currency           820,024        1,569,228 

              1,924,659         2,990,890 

Three months:

Foreign currency           736,451        1,082,966 

Local currency           805,566           993,278 

       1,542,017        2,076,244 

Six months:

Foreign currency        2,415,248        2,243,428 

Local currency        2,181,797        2,611,184 

       4,597,045        4,854,612 

Twelve months:

Foreign currency      15,487,417      16,312,787 

Local currency      15,255,152      15,328,840 

     30,742,569      31,641,627 

Twenty four months:

Foreign currency        1,304,388        1,608,192 

Local currency        1,776,184        1,991,488 

       3,080,573        3,599,680 

Thirty six months

Foreign currency        1,282,814        1,151,684 

Local currency           843,549           704,044 

       2,126,363        1,855,728 

Total      44,013,226 47,018,780

16. Other liabilities

Other liabilities as at 31 December 2015 and 2014 are detailed as follows:

31 December  
2015

31 December  
2014

Accrued payables 101,258 153,415

Transactions as agents 68,082 95,502

Taxes payable other than income tax 26,800 12,428

Unearned income                    -   4,052

Income tax to be paid                    -   10,486

Other provisioning                    -   15,022

Other creditors 155,609 127,567

- Suppliers & Other creditors 11,864                5,325 

- Payments in transit for public finance 107,369           115,397 

- Operational suspense accounts 34,982                6,778 

- Other 1,394                     68 

Total           351,749 418,473

Accrued payables as at 31 December 2015 include balances payable for utilities, 
stationeries, insurance and other similar expenses.

17. Deferred tax liability, net

Deferred tax asset and liability are attributable to temporary differences from the following 
items:

31 December  
2015

31 December  
2014

Tax depreciation in excess of reference tax rates (5,947)                          -   

Deferred tax asset                 (5,947)                          -   

Investment securities - available for sale              15,556                          -   

Deferred tax liability                 15,556                          -   

Deferred tax liability, net             9,609                          -   

The deferred tax liability have been recorded net of the deferred tax assets as the amounts are and will be 
due to the same tax authority and are expected to be settled on a net basis. Movements in temporary dif-
ferences during the year are recognized in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
The enacted tax rate as at December 31, 2015 is 15%.

16. OTHER LIABILITIES
17. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITY, NET
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18. Paid-up capital

The paid-up capital represents the fully paid shares subscribed by the Bank’s shareholders.
As at 31 December 2015 to Lek 6,740,900 thousand (31 December 2014: Lek 6,740,900).

31 December  2015 31 December  2014

Number of 
Shares (%) Number of 

Shares (%)

Societe Generale 59,753 88.64 59,753 88.64

Mr. Vasil Naçi 2,798 4.15 2,798 4.15

Mr. Kosta Sotiri 1,439 2.13 1,439 2.13

Mr. Kristo Naçi 1,603 2.38 1,603 2.38

Mr. Behar Male 449 0.67 449 0.67

Mr. Guxim Resuli 607 0.90 607 0.90

Mr. Lefter Sota 298 0.44 298 0.44

Mr. Vladimir Kosta 296 0.44 296 0.44

Mr. Adrian Doçi 166 0.25 166 0.25

Total               67,409 100                67,409 100
  
 

18. PAID-UP CAPITAL

31/12/2015 < 12 months > 12 months  Total

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 3,005,695 - 3,005,695

Restricted balances with Central Bank 5,172,851 432,279 5,605,130

Loans and advances financial 
institutions

1,273,223 18,017 1,291,240

Available-for-sale investments 4,879,177 15,116,172 19,995,349

Loans to customers, net 17,678,611 22,858,322 40,536,932

Finance lease contracts 225,969 366,535 592,504

Property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets

- 799,565 799,565

Assets gained through legal process 1,125,712 - 1,125,712

Other assets 288,250 37,425 325,675

Total 33,649,488 39,628,314 73,277,802

Financial Liabilities

Due to financial institutions 4,932,166 8,006 4,940,172

Due to customers 56,071,724 3,424,861 59,496,585

Other liabilities 351,749 - 351,749

Deferred tax liability - 9,609 9,609

Equity - 8,479,687 8,479,687

Total 61,355,639 11,912,163 73,277,802

Net (27,706,151) 27,706,151 -

19. MATURITY ANALYSIS 
OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

19. Maturity analysis of assets and liabilities

The table below shows an analysis of assets and liabilities analysed according to when they 
are expected to berecovered or settled. 
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20. Interest income

Interest income was earned on the following assets:

Year ended 
31 December 2015

Year ended 
31 December 2014

Loans to customers 2,328,013 2,481,257 

Finance leases contracts 49,222 46,875 

Investments and repurchase agreements 1,119,560 1,131,232 

Loans and advances to financial 
institutions

104,222 137,673 

Total 3,601,017               3,797,037 

21. Interest expense

Interest expense for the year ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 
was incurred on the following:

Year ended 
31 December 2015

Year ended 
31 December 2014

Due to customers 706,841 1,274,512

Due to banks and financial institutions 52,057 79,380

Total 758,898               1,353,892  

22. Fee and Commission income

Year ended 
31 December 2015

Year ended 
31 December 2014

Banking services 380,288 343,507

Other 31,136 20,635

Total 411,424               364,142  

20. INTEREST INCOME
21. INTEREST EXPENSE
22. FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

23. Fee and Commission expenses

Year ended 
31 December 2015

Year ended 
31 December 2015

Interbank transactions 7,130 7,234

Forex & arbitrage operations 5,340 4,057

Master Card and Visa Activity 53,063 41,999

Other 4,277 2,530

Totali 69,810                    55,820 

24. Impairment and write-offs

Year ended 
31 December 

2015

Year ended 
31 December 

2015

Impairment for loans to customers 369,200 465,442

Write-off of loans to customers 688,231 44,749

Impairment for losses from revaluation 
of assets from adjudications

67,526 -

Impairment for operational losses from 
legal cases

9,023 -

Impairment of accounts in debit 42,740 2,502

Total 1,176,720              512,693  

25. Personnel expenses

Year ended 
31 December 

2015

Year ended 
31 December 

2014

Salaries 504,190 497,802

Social insurance 65,184 62,878

Bonuses and rewards 111,173 105,669

Total 680,547              666,350  

23. FEE AND COMMISSION EXPENSES
24. IMPAIRMENT AND WRITE-OFFS
25. PERSONNEL EXPENSES
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26. Administrative expenses

Year ended 
31 December 

2015

Year ended 
31 December 

2014

Rent expenses 206,218 208,923

External services 200,147 181,377

Communication and electricity 101,799 107,453

Technical assistance from mother company 83,100 35,640

Deposits and other insurance expenses 70,035 73,461

Maintenance and repairs 70,817 61,541

Advertising and promotions 68,410 75,529

Stationery and printings 24,194 28,820

Travel and transportation 22,140 23,756

Training expenses 19,853 16,926

Legal expenses 13,344 19,396

Taxes other than income tax 8,961 9,800

External audit expenses 4,681 4,877

Board of Directors and Audit Committee 9,652 7,659

Other expenses 17,652 12,592

Total 921,003                   867,752 

External services represent expenses for security, other utilities and professional services. Technical assis-
tance from Mother Company relates to management services offered from the parent. The increase in 2015 
is due to an IT control service that was not performed in the prior years. 

27. Income tax expense

Year ended 
31 December 

2015

Year ended 
31 December 

2014

Current income tax                        82,300 102,553

Deferred tax expense                          9,609 -

Total                        91,909  102,553

Income tax in Albania is assessed at the rate of 15% by the end of 2015 (2014: 15%) of taxable income. 
Starting from January 1, 2014 according to income tax law amendment dated December 28, 2013 the 
provision calculated based on International Financial Reporting Standards are applied for the calculation of 
the income tax. Due to the change of the income tax law there are no temporary differences between the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation 
purposes.

Year ended 
31 December 

2015

Year ended 
31 December 

2014

Profit before tax 335,850 579,553

Non tax deductible expenses 212,818 104,135

- Allowances 90,277 33,730

- Loss from write off of debit accounts 42,740 2,502

- Loss from write off of bailiff fees 21,059 -

- Amortization 21,539 25,726

- Personal Consumption expenses 18,658 15,008

- Travel and reception expenses 9,015 7,954

- Marketing expenses 3,526 4,190

- Other expenses 6,004 14,614

Taxable results 548,668 683,688

Current income tax at 15% (15% in 2014) 82,300 102,553

26. ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
27. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 27. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

27. Income tax expense (continued)

The following represents a reconciliation of the profit before tax to the taxable results for the year ended 31 
December 2015 and 2014:
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29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

29. Related party transactions

The ultimate controlling party of the Bank as at 31 December 2015 is SocieteGenerale.

A number of banking transactions are entered into with related parties in the normal course 
of business. These transactions include loans, deposits and other transactions carried out 
on normal commercial terms and at market rates.

As at 31 December 2015and 31 December 2014 the Bank had the following contractual 
terms and transactions with its shareholders:

31 December 2015 Amount Interest 
rate

Value 
date

Maturity 
date

Lending to SocieteGenerale 874,241 0.25% 29-Dec-15 5-Jan-16

Lending to SocieteGenerale 104,109 0.15% 30-Dec-15 5-Jan-16

Due to SocieteGenerale 43,246 - - -

Due from SocieteGenerale 571,755 - - -

31 December 2014 Amount Interest 
rate

Value 
date

Maturity 
date

Due to SocieteGenerale 11,193 - - -

Due from SocieteGenerale 388,876 - - -

Directors Board of Directors 

2015 2014 2015 2014

Loans

Loans outstanding at beginning of the year 7,718 7,094 - -

Loans issued during the year 11 871 - -

Loans repaid during the year (567) (247)

Loans outstanding at end of the year 7,162 7,718 - -

Bank guarantees issued 12,081 12,332 - -

Interest income earned 21 293 - -

28. Commitments and contingencies

Commitments and contingencies as at 31 December 2015 and 2014 include guarantees received from and 
extended to customers as follows:

31 December  
2015

31 December  
2014

Guarantees in favour of customers 10,126,976 9,005,776

Un-drawn credit commitments 1,733, 386 1,444,450

Guarantees pledged from financial institutions 821,525 1,175,673

Commitments on securities 1,372,800 1,401,400

Other commitments 107,267 -

Guarantees  received from credit customers 135,600,797 122,500,953

The Bank has collaterals pledged from customers including cash collateral, mortgages and other assets in 
favour of the Bank.

Legal
In the normal course of business the Bank may be presented with legal claims. As at 31 December 2015, 
the Bank had outstanding legal cases considered normal through the course of business, having no material 
impact on the Bank’s activity.  

Operating lease commitments – Bank as lessee
The Bank has entered into operating lease commitments for the premises of its Head Office and most of its 
branches with lease terms of between 5 to 10 years. The Bank does not have an option to purchase the 
property at the expiry of the lease period.

28. Commitments and contingencies (continued)
Operating lease commitments – Bank as lessee (continued)

Operating lease rentals are repayable as follows:
 

31 December 
 2015

31 December  
2014

Not later than one year 189,307 194.149

Between one and five years 430,211 568,982

More than five years 42,850 44,013

Total 662,368 807,144

28. COMMITMENTS AND 
CONTINGENCIES
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29. RELATED PARTY 
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
30. EVENTS AFTER THE 
REPORTING DATE

29. Related party transactions (continued)

Directors Board of Directors

2015 2014 2015 2014

Current accounts and deposits

Deposits at beginning of the year 87,055 121,958 23,290 46,696

Deposits received during the year 11,940 27,961 2,018 678

Deposits repaid during the year (12,078) (62,864) (8,984) (24,084)

Deposits at end of the year 86,917 87,055 16,324 23,290

Interest paid (199) (2,128) (2) (25)

Fee and commission income 73 80 68 92

Profit from foreign exchange transactions 9 22 19 15

Management compensation (58,771) (51,633) (3,981) (3,784)

Amounts disclosed in relation to Directors and Board of Directors classifications include close members 
of their families and entities that are controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by, or for which 
significant voting power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any director or close family member

30. Events after the reporting date

On February 26, 2016, KURUM International filed for bankruptcy in the Albanian court, due to a reorganization 
process initiated from the parent of the borrower. The bank issued a short-term overdraft of EUR 5 million to 
the borrower in October 2015, which is secured by account receivables from third parties of the Borrower 
for the amount of EUR 5 million and a Corporate Guarantee from parent company for the amount of EUR 5 
million. The Bank has not yet started any bailiff procedure after this notification as it is in discussions with the 
current Legal Bankruptcy Administrator assigned by Tirana’s Court during the first court hearing on March 
16, 2016.As at the date of these financial statements, management cannot make a reliable estimate of the 
ultimate loss from of this event at the time of authorization of the financial statements. For the purpose of the 
impact on regulatory capital, this loan will be provided in full subsequent to the year, however this provision 
does not cause the capital to breach any regulatory limits. 

This event was not indicative of an insolvent condition of the borrower as at the date of reporting and is 
considered as a non-adjusting event after the reporting period. 

There are no other events after the reporting date that would require either adjustments or additional 
disclosures in the financial statements of the Bank.

31. FINANCIAL RISK 
MANAGEMENT

31. Financial risk management

(a) Overview

The Bank has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
 • credit risk
 • liquidity risk
 • market risks
 • operational risks.

This note presents information about the Bank’s exposure to each of the above risks and its 
objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk and capital.

Risk management framework

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the 
Bank’s risk management framework. The Board has established the Bank Asset and Liability 
(ALCO), Credit and Operational Risk committees, which are responsible for developing and 
monitoring Bank risk management policies in their specified areas. All Board committees 
have both executive and non-executive members and report regularly to the Board of 
Directors on their activities.

The Bank’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced 
by the Bank, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence 
to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes 
in market conditions, products and services offered. The Bank, through its training and 
management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive 
control environment, in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

The Bank Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring compliance with the Bank’s 
risk management policies and procedures, and for reviewing the adequacy of the 
risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Bank. The Bank Audit 
Committee is assisted in these functions by Internal Audit. Internal Audit undertakes both 
regular and ad-hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of 
which are reported to the Audit Committee.
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Current developments

Management of the Bank performs daily monitoring over all positions of assets and 
liabilities, income and expenses, as well as the development of the international financial 
markets, applying the best banking practices. Based on this, the management analyses 
profitability, liquidity and the cost of funds and implements adequate measures in respect 
to credit, market (primarily interest rate) and liquidity risk, thus limiting the possible negative 
effects from the global economic. In this way the Bank responds to the challenges of the 
market environment, maintaining a stable capital and liquidity position.

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Bank if a customer or counterparty to a financial 
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Bank’s 
loans and advances to customers and other banks and investment securities. 

For risk management reporting purposes, the Bank considers and consolidates all elements 
of credit risk exposure (such as individual obligor default risk, country and sector risk). 
For risk management purposes, credit risk arising on trading securities is managed 
independently, but reported as a component of market risk exposure.

Management of credit risk

The Board of Directors has delegated responsibility for the management of credit risk to 
its Bank Credit Committee. A consolidated Credit Risk Sector, reporting to the Chief Risk 
Officer and in parallel to the Executive Officer, is responsible for oversight of the Bank’s 
credit risk. 

The management of credit risk is accomplished through:

• Formulating credit risk policies in consultation with business units, covering collateral 
requirements, credit assessment, risk grading and reporting, documentary and legal 
procedures, and compliance with regulatory and statutory requirements.

31. FINANCIAL RISK 
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

• Establishing and monitoring of the delegation levels and escalating process regarding the 
credit approvals. Board of Directors delegates its power of approval authority to the Credit 
Committee of the Bank (currently for the amount up to Euro 1 million or its equivalent in Lek 
or other currencies). 

• Reviewing and assessing credit risk. Bank Management through specific structures of 
Credit Risk Management assesses all credit exposures limits, prior to the final approval and 
disbursement. Renewals and reviews of facilities are subject to the same process.

• Limiting concentrations of exposure to counterparties. The bank structures the levels of 
credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted in relation to one 
borrower or groups of borrowers. Moreover, concentration limits by sectors of economy are 
being established. Such risks are monitored on a revolving basis and subject to an annual 
or more frequent review, as considered necessary. 

• Monitoring the actual exposures against limits on a frequent basis. Exposure to credit risk 
is also managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential borrowers 
to meet interest and capital repayment obligations, even by changing these lending limits 
where appropriate.  

• Developing and maintaining the Bank’s risk grading in order to categorise exposures 
according to the degree of risk of financial loss faced and to focus management on the 
attendant risks. The risk grading system is used in determining where impairment provisions 
may be required against specific credit exposures. The current risk grading framework is 
based on a general categorization of the loan portfolio in performing and non-performing 
loans, classified into 8 categories and sub-categories, which reflect various degrees of risk 
of default and the availability of collateral or other credit risk mitigation. The responsibility 
for setting the risk grades remains with the Credit Risk Management and is subject to the 
final approval by Credit Committee or the Management. The risk grading is also subject 
to regular reviews performed by SocieteGenerale, and the Group risk and impairment 
measurement policies and guidelines.

31. FINANCIAL RISK 
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
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31. FINANCIAL RISK 
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Loans & Advances to 
customers

Finance Lease 
Contracts

Loans & Advances to 
banks

Investment 
Securities

Lending commitments 
and financial 
guarantees

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014

Carrying amount 40,536,932 38,539,789 592,504 516,052 1,291,240 1,187,751 19,995,349 20,514,693

Amount committed / 
Guaranteed 11,860,362 10,450,226

At amortized cost

Grade: Low-fair risk 36,332,172 33,409,004 466,450 455,832 1,291,240 1,187,751

Grade: Watch list 2,450,617 2,846,775 99,060 26,852 - -

Grade: Substandard 414,879 716,719 8,244 2,114 - -

Grade: Doubtful 924,101 657,637 11,938 55,897 - -

Grade: Loss 2,356,701 2,477,284 24,941 18,872 - -

Total gross amount 42,478,470 40,107,420 610,634 559,567 1,291,240 1,187,751

Allowance for impairment 
(individual & collective) (1,941,538) (1,567,631) (18,130) (43,515)

Net Carrying Amount 40,536,932 38,539,789 592,504 516,052 1,291,240 1,187,751

Available for sale

Grade: Low-fair risk 19,995,349 20,514,693

Total carrying amount 19,995,349 20,514,693

Off Balance Sheet

Lending commitments

Grade: Low-fair risk 1,733,386 1,444,450

Financial Guarantees

Grade: Low-fair risk 10,126,976 9,005,776

Total Exposure 11,860,362 10,450,226

31. Financial risk management (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

31. Financial risk management (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

Exposure to credit risk
(i) Loans and advances to financial institutions and available-for-sale investments

31 December  2015 31 December  2014

Neither past due nor impaired

Loans and advances to financial 
institutions

Fair risk (commercial banks) 1,291,240 1,187,751

Available-for-sale investments

Government bonds and treasury bills 19,995,349 20,514,693

Total carrying amount 21,286,589 21,702,444

(ii) Loans and Advances to Customers Net

31 December  2015 31 December  2014

  Grade: Substandard        100,676             299,510 

  Grade: Doubtful        738,049               68,430 

  Grade: Loss      1,870,108          2,083,597 

Gross amount    2,708,833        2,451,537 

Allowance for impairment  (1,382,687)      (1,040,091)

Carrying amount (A)    1,326,146        1,411,445 

Portfolio based allowance for losses

Grade: Standard (low-fair risk) 36,332,172         33,409,004 

  Grade: Special mention      2,450,617          2,846,775 

  Grade: Substandard        314,203        417,209 

  Grade: Doubtful        186,052             589,207 

  Grade: Loss        486,593             393,687 

Gross amount  39,769,638      37,655,883 

    (558,851)         (527,539)

Carrying amount (B)  39,210,786      37,128,344 

Total carrying amount (A+B) 
(Ref to note: 9.1& 9.2) 40,536,932 38,539,789
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31. FINANCIAL RISK 
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Past due but not impaired comprises:

1-30 days: Standard 3,028,124 3,531,530

30-90 days: Special Mention      1,888,135          2,846,775 

90-180 days: Substandard        314,203             417,209 

180 days - 270 days: Doubtful        186,052             589,207 

270 + days: Loss        486,593             393,687 

Carrying amount 5,903,107 7,778,408

Exposures past due but not impaired are individually tested for impairment when fulfilling 
the internal trigger events, and resulted with no such impairment. 

31. Financial risk management (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

Exposure to credit risk (continued)
(iii) Financial Leasing Net

31 December  
2015

31 December  
2014

Individually impaired                      

  Grade: Substandard             7,562          2,114 

  Grade: Doubtful            10,724              -   

  Grade: Loss            24,941        18,872 

Gross amount          43,227       20,986 

Allowance for impairment        (14,536)     (10,964)

Carrying amount (A)          28,691       10,022 

Portfolio based allowance for losses                      

1-30 days: Standard            116,543        144,326 

30-90 days: Special Mention            99,060        26,852 

90-180 days: Substandard                682              -   

180 days - 270 days: Doubtful             1,214        55,897 

270 + days: Loss                  -                -   

Carrying amount 217,499 227,075

31. FINANCIAL RISK 
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Impaired loans and securities, including those with past due days in collective
Impaired loans and securities are loans and securities for which the Bank determines that it is probable that it will be unable 
to collect all principal and interest due according to the contractual terms of the loan / securities agreement(s). 

Past due but not impaired loans
Loans and securities where contractual interest or principal payments are past due but the Bank believes that impairment 
is not appropriate on the basis of the level of security / collateral available and / or the stage of collection of amounts owed 
to the Bank.

Loans with renegotiated terms
Loans with renegotiated terms are loans that have been restructured due to deterioration in the borrower’s financial position 
and where the Bank has made concessions that it would not otherwise consider. Once the loan is restructured it remains 
in this category independent of satisfactory performance after restructuring.

31 December  
2015

31 December  
2014

Zhvlerësim bazuar në nivel grupi

Grade: Standard (low-fair risk) 466,450      455,832 

  Grade: Special mention            99,060        26,852 

  Grade: Substandard           682              -   

  Grade: Doubtful             1,215        55,897 

  Grade: Loss                  -                -   

Gross amount        567,407     538,581 

Allowance for impairment          (3,593)     (32,551)

Carrying amount (B)        563,814     506,030 

Total carrying amount (A+B) 
(Ref to note: 9.1& 9.2) 592,504 516,052
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31. ADMINISTRIMI I RREZIKUT 
FINANCIAR (VAZHDIM)

Analysis of gross loans and advances to customers by risk grade
Analysis of the gross and net (of allowances for impairment) amounts of individually impaired 
loans and advances to customers by risk grade are presented as follows:

31 December  2015 31 December  2014

Gross Net Gross Net

Individually impaired

  Grade: Substandard 100,676 61,017 299,510 199,688

  Grade: Doubtful 738,049 432,138 68,430 21,492

  Grade: Loss 1,870,108 832,990 2,083,597 1,190,265

Total 2,708,833 1,326,146 2,451,537 1,411,445

Analysis of the gross and net (of allowances for impairment) amounts of individually impaired finance leases by risk 
grade are presented as follows:

31 December  2015 31 December  2014

Gross Net Gross Net

Individually impaired

  Grade: Substandard 7,562 5,730 2,114 1,723

  Grade: Doubtful 10,724 10,011 - -

  Grade: Loss 24,941 12,950 18,872 8,299

Total 43,227 28,691 20,986 10,022

31. Financial risk management (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)
Exposure to credit risk (continued)

The Bank holds collateral against loans and advances to customers. The Bank implements its internal guidelines on 
the acceptability of specific classes of collateral or credit risk mitigation.

The Bank holds collateral mainly in the form of:
• Real Estate mortgages over residential as well as business properties;
• Pledge over business assets in operation such as  machinery and equipment, inventory, and accounts receivable;
• Cash collateral and certain securities (i.e. Treasury Bills), etc.

 

31.  Financial risk management (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

Exposure to credit risk (continued)

Hua me kushte të rinegociueshme 
The Bank establishes an allowance for impairment losses that represents its estimation 
regarding the incurred losses in its loan portfolio. The main components of this allowance 
are a specific loss component that relates to individually significant exposures, and a 
collective loan loss allowance established for Banks of homogeneous assets in respect of 
losses that have been incurred but have not been identified on loans subject to individual 
assessment for impairment.

Write-off policy
The Bank writes off a loan / security balance (and any related allowances for impairment 
losses) when Bank Credit determines that the loans / securities are uncollectible. As a 
general rule, loans that are classified as lost for 3 years are deemed not-collectible. This 
determination is reached after considering information such as the occurrence of significant 
changes in the borrower / issuer’s financial position such that the borrower / issuer can no 
longer pay the obligation and proceeds from collateral will not be sufficient to pay back the 
entire exposure. For smaller balance standardized loans, write off decisions generally are 
based on a product specific past due status as well as on legal actions followed related to 
the enforcement procedure.

31. FINANCIAL RISK 
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31. FINANCIAL RISK 
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Estimates of fair value are based on the value of collateral assessed at the time of borrowing, 
and generally are not updated on an annual basis. The revision takes place when the loan 
is individually assessed as impaired, except for cases where the review is requested by the 
customer, the loan is in arrears, or there is a significant decrease in the market prices for real 
estate premises. Collateral generally is not held over loans and advances to banks, except 
when securities are held as part of reverse repurchase and securities borrowing activity. 

Maximum Exposure to Credit Risk without taking account of any collateral and other credit 
enhancements (gross of any impairment). The following table shows the current maximum 
exposure to credit risk for the applicable components of statement of financial position: The 
maximum exposure is presented without taking into account any collateral and other credit 
enhancements (gross of any impairments)

31 December 
 2015

31 December  
2014

Total collaterals received

  - For loans and advances to financial institutions 821,525 1,175,673 

  - For investing in G. Bond in Euro 1,372,800
               
1,401,400 

  - For loans to customers  135,600,797 122,500,953 

Total 137,795,122 125,078,026 

Gross maximum exposure 

31 December  
2015

31 December  
2014

Cash balances with Central Bank 
(excluding cash on hand)

7,634,777 7,899,765

Due from Banks 1,291,240 1,187,751

Available for sale investments 19,995,349 20,514,693

Loans and advances to customers (including financial lease) 43,089,104 40,666,987

Total 72,010,470 70,269,196 

Un-drawn credit commitments 1,733,386 1,444,450

Letters of credit 3,794,405 3,561,912

Guarantees in favor of customers 6,332,571 5,443,864

Total credit related commitments 11,860,362 10,450,226

Total Credit Risk exposure 83,870,832 80,719,422

31. FINANCIAL RISK 
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b) Credit risk (continued)
Exposure to credit risk (continued)

Gross concentration of credit risk as at December 2015 and 2014 by economic sector is 
detailed as follows:

31 December  2015 31 December  2014

Loans to 
customers

Finance 
Lease Total % of 

Total
Loans to 

customers
Finance 

Lease Total % of 
Total

Trade 12,165,267 207,786 12,373,053 29% 11,311,704 193,717 11,505,421 28%

Construction 1,511,833 58,321 1,570,154 4% 1,516,263 12,298 1,528,561 4%

Services 2,651,882 64,826 2,716,708 6% 2,461,486 26,242 2,487,728 6%

Production and processing industry 7,385,914 63,224 7,449,138 17% 9,719,861 (6,261) 9,713,600 24%

Telecommunication 4,011,222 141,907 4,153,129 9% 1,814,194 184,542 1,998,736 4%

Agriculture and fishing 48,534 - 48,534 0% 101,881 (339) 101,542 0%

Public institutions - - - 0% 62,372 (208) 62,164 0%

Others 14,703,819 74,569 14,778,387 34% 13,119,659 149,576 13,269,235 33%

Total 42,478,470 610,634 43,089,103 100% 40,107,420 559,567 40,666,987 100%
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31. FINANCIAL RISK 
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

31 december 2015 Corporate 
lending

Small 
business 

lending

Consumer 
lending

Residential 
mortgage

Finance 
Lease 

Contracts
Total

Individuals - - 4,719,378 9,785,572 70,656 14,575,606

Trade 10,426,682 1,738,585 - - 207,786 12,373,053

Manufacturing 6,449,045 936,869 - - 63,224 7,449,138

Construction 1,081,574 430,259 - - 58,321 1,570,154

Services 5,759,641 903,462 - - 206,735 6,869,838

Others 155,628 91,775 - - 3,911 251,314

Total 23,872,570 4,100,950 4,719,378 9,785,572 610,633 43,089,103 

Allowance (1,229,075) (254,970) (270,279) (187,214) (18,130) (1,959,668)

Grand Total 22,643,495 3,845,980 4,449,099 9,598,358 592,503 41,129,435

31 december 2014 Corporate 
lending

Small 
business 

lending

Consumer 
lending

Residential 
mortgage

Finance 
Lease 

Contracts
Total

Individuals - - 4,760,039 8,711,837 55,974 13,527,850

Trade 10,240,694 896,431 - - 220,058 11,357,183

Manufacturing 9,131,757 507,509 - - 26,041 9,665,307

Construction 1,082,123 232,424 - - 17,315 1,331,862

Services 3,204,903 801,112 - - 224,639 4,230,654

Others 376,337 162,254 - - 15,540 554,131

Total 24,035,814 2,599,730 4,760,039 8,711,837 559,567 40,666,987

Allowance (890,019) (268,420) (250,454) (158,738) (43,516) (1,611,147)

Grand Total 23,145,795 2,331,310 4,509,585 8,553,099 516,051 39,055,840

31. Financial risk management (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)
Exposure to credit risk (continued)

An analysis of concentrations of credit risk by industry sector net of impairment at the 
reporting date is shown below:

31. FINANCIAL RISK 
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

31. Financial risk management (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

Credit quality for loans and advances to customers to credit risk

31 december 2015
Neither past due nor impaired

Past due but 
not impaired

Individually 
impaired TotalHigh 

grade
Standard 

grade

Sub 
standard 

grade
No rating

Corporate lending - 19,875,284 - - 2,343,229 1,654,057 23,872,570

Small business lending - 3,068,156 - - 437,408 595,387 4,100,950

Consumer lending - 3,616,919 - - 890,568 211,892 4,719,378

Residential mortgage - 7,306,172 - - 2,231,901 247,497 9,785,572

Total - 33,866,531 - - 5,903,106 2,708,833 42,478,470

Finance lease receivables - 349,908 - - 217,499 43,227 610,634

Grand Total - 34,216,439 - - 6,120,605 2,752,060 43,089,104

31 december 2015
Neither past due nor impaired

Past due but 
not impaired

Individually 
impaired TotalHigh 

grade
Standard 

grade

Sub 
standard 

grade
No rating

Corporate lending - 18,551,006 - - 3,933,222 1,551,593 24,035,821

Small business lending - 1,479,774 - - 768,522 351,434 2,599,730

Consumer lending - 3,326,880 - - 1,184,121 249,039 4,760,039

Residential mortgage - 6,519,823 - - 1,892,535 299,471 8,711,837

Total - 29,877,483 - - 7,778,400 2,451,537 40,107,427

Finance lease receivables - 316,391 - - 227,075 16,095 559,561

Grand Total - 30,193,874 - - 8,005,475 2,467,632 40,666,987
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Past due but not individually impaired 31 December  2015 31 December  2014

1-30 d 3,881,765 4,524,920

31-90 d 1,149,756 486,224

91 - 120 d 130,350 899,925

121 - 150 d 15,994 335,940

151 - 180 d 93,408 317,071

181 - 270 d 72,435 327,731

271 - 360 d 284,051 584,204

over 360 d 492,846 529,460

Total 6,120,605 8,005,475

Loans and advances to banks 31 December  
2015

31 December  
2014

Neither past due or impaired

“High grade” 1,291,240 1,187,751

Total carrying amount 1,291,240 1,187,751

Investment securities 31 December 
2015

31 December 
2014

Neither past due or impaired

“High grade” 19,995,349 20,514,693

Total carrying amount 19,995,349 20,514,693

Over-collateralized
assets

Under-collateralized
Assets

Carrying 
value of the 

assets

Fair value of 
collateral

Carrying 
value of the 

assets

Fair 
value of 

collateral

Loans to individuals 11,747,750 36,831,694 2,757,201 403,909

Housing 7,016,302 19,876,179 555,991 336,029

Real Estate & Reconstruction 2,162,111 6,623,378 51,170 44,858

Consumer 141,674 799,149 1,884,324 -

Other 2,427,663 9,532,988 265,716 23,022

Loans to large corporate customers 12,579,883 60,216,969 11,292,687 2,742,467

Loans to SME 3,771,383 18,200,260 329,567 126,868

Total 28,099,016 115,248,923 14,379,455 3,273,244

Finance lease contracts 45,451 467,664 565,183 29,790

Total including finance lease 
contracts 28,144,467 115,716,587 14,944,638 3,303,034

31. FINANCIAL RISK 
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Aging of past due and not impaired exposures for loans and advances to customers Fair value of collateral and other security enhancements held against financial assets 

Exposures that are overdue by more than 90 days, are tested individually for impairment and result with 
no such impairment as at the reporting date, hence these are subject to impairment on a portfolio basis. 

31. Financial risk management (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

Credit quality for other financial assets exposure to credit risk 

LIQUIDITY RISK

(c) Liquidity risk

Settlement risk

The Bank’s activities may give rise to risk at the time of settlement of transactions and 
trades. Settlement risk is the risk of loss due to the failure of a company to honor its 
obligations to deliver cash, securities or other assets as contractually agreed.

For certain types of transactions the Bank mitigates this risk by conducting settlements 
through a settlement / clearing agent to ensure that a trade is settled only when both parties 
have fulfilled their contractual settlement obligations. Settlement limits form part of the 
credit approval / limit monitoring process described earlier. Acceptance of settlement risk 
on free settlement trades requires transaction specific or counterparty specific approvals 
from Bank Risk Department.

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations from 
its financial liabilities.
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31. FINANCIAL RISK 
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

31. Financial risk management (continued)
(c) Liquidity risk (continued)

Exposure to liquidity risk
Maturity analysis for non-derivative financial liabilities

The table below set out the remaining contractual maturities of non-derivative financial 
liabilities including commitments and financial guarantees.

31 December  2015 Carrying 
amount

Gross nominal outflow 

Up to 1 
month

1 to 3 
months

3 to 6 
months 

6 to 12 
months

1 to 5 
years 

Over 5 
years

Loans and advances from financial 
institutions

4,940,172 (3,233,866) (95,082) (192,340) (1,432,764) (7,999) -

Due to customers 59,496,585 (20,878,875) (6,482,361) (8,033,874) (20,084,978) (4,356,802) -

Un-drawn credit commitments 1,733,386 (60,462) (257,965) (263,234) (1,157,617) - -

Letters of credit 3,794,405 (6,977) (1,295,637) - (13,728) (2,478,063) -

Guarantees in favor of customers 6,332,571 (320,776) (751,161) (2,069,393) (739,269) (1,257,790) (1,194,181)

Totali 76,297,119 (24,500,956) (8,882,206) (10,558,841) (23,428,356) (8,100,654) (1,194,181)

31 December 2014 Vlera 
kontabël

Gross nominal outflow 

Up to 1 
month

1 to 3 
months

3 to 6 
months 

6 to 12 
months

1 to 5 
years

Over 5 
years

Loans and advances from financial 
institutions

4,026,273 (2,421,937) (24,671) (143,841) (915,682) (577,801) -

Due to customers 58,899,592 (18,510,907) (6,961,871) (7,562,374) (21,968,260) (4,372,594) -

Un-drawn credit commitments 1,444,450 (67,960) (266,023) (129,188) (981,279) - -

Letters of credit 3,561,912 (90,998) (3,456,900) (14,014) - -

Guarantees in favor of customers 5,443,864 (656,654) (1,311,292) (1,145,256) (1,861,148) (457,108) (12,407)

Totali 73,376,091 (21,748,456) (12,020,757) (8,980,659) (25,740,383) (5,407,503) (12,407)

31. Financial risk management (continued)
(c) Liquidity risk (continued)

Management of liquidity risk

The Bank’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will 
always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and 
stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Bank’s 
reputation. Liquidity policies and procedures are subject of approval and review by Board 
of Directors. Certain decisions may be delegated to ALCO.

The Bank’s liquidity management process includes:

 • Day-to-day funding, managed by monitoring future cash flows to ensure that  
 requirements can be met. These include replenishment of funds as they mature  
 or are borrowed by customers;
 • Monitoring statement of financial position liquidity ratios against internal and  
 regulatory requirements; and
 • Managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities.

The responsibility for the management of daily liquidity position remains with the Treasury 
Department. Daily reports cover the projected estimated cash flows for the next day, week, 
and month, which are considered as key liquidity management periods. The starting point 
for those projections is the analysis of the contractual maturity of the financial liabilities and 
the expected collection date for the financial assets. 

The Management of short and medium term liquidity is a responsibility of ALCO. ALCO 
analyses on a monthly basis the liquidity position of the Bank and approves any actions 
deemed as necessary.

31. FINANCIAL RISK 
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

AUDITOR’S
REPORT

AUDITOR’S
REPORT

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015
(amounts in Lek‘000, unless otherwise stated)

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015
(amounts in Lek‘000, unless otherwise stated)

112       113   



31. FINANCIAL RISK 
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

31.  Financial risk management (continued)
(c) Liquidity risk (continued)

Exposure to liquidity risk

The key measure used by the Bank for managing liquidity risk is the ratio of highly liquid 
assets to short term liabilities, and the cumulative gap up to 3- months over total assets. For 
this purpose the highly liquid assets are considered as including cash and cash equivalents 
and available for sale securities portfolio. The Liquidity ratios defined by the Bank are in 
compliance with Central Bank requirements imposed by the Regulation ‘On Liquidity Risk 
Management”. 

Funds are raised using a range of instruments including deposits, other liabilities evidenced 
by paper, and share capital. This enhances funding flexibility, limits dependence on any one 
source of funds and generally lowers the cost of funds. The Bank makes its best efforts to 
maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of liabilities 
with a range of maturity. The Bank continually assesses liquidity risk by identifying and 
monitoring changes in funding required to meet business goals and targets set in terms of 
the overall Bank strategy.

The following tables show the discounted cash flows from the Bank’s assets and liabilities 
on the basis of their earliest possible remaining periods to repayment. 

The Bank’s expected cash flows may vary significantly from this analysis. For example, 
demand deposits from customers are expected to maintain a stable or increasing balance.

In addition the Bank holds a portfolio of liquid assets as part of its liquidity risk management 
strategy.

31. Financial risk management (continued)
(c) Liquidity risk (continued)

Exposure to liquidity risk
The Bank’s exposure to the liquidity risk as at 31 December 2015 is presented as follows:

31. FINANCIAL RISK 
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Up to 1 
month

1 to 3 
months

3 to 6 
months

6 to 12 
months

1 to 5 
years

Over 5 
years

Non- 
specific Totali

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 3,005,695 - - - - - 3,005,695 

Restricted balances with 
Central Bank

708,525 830,474 1,003,380 2,630,472 432,279 - - 5,605,130 

Loans and advances financial 
institutions

103,916 1,808 2,731 1,164,769 18,016 - - 1,291,240 

Available-for-sale investments 308,060 500,538 2,529,022 1,541,557 12,353,259 2,762,913 - 19,995,349

Loans to customers, net 2,804,558 3,495,858 3,473,358 7,904,836 15,735,546 7,122,776 - 40,536,932

Finance Lease receivables 34,481 39,396 47,837 104,255 364,608 1,927 592,504

Totali 6,965,235 4,868,074 7,056,328 13,345,889 28,903,708 9,887,616 71,026,850

Liabilities

Due to financial 
institutions

3,233,701 94,965 191,476 1,412,024 8,006 - - 4,940,172

Due to customers 20,701,723 6,579,684 7,949,592 20,840,725 3,424,861 - - 59,496,585

23,935,424 6,674,649 8,141,068 22,252,749 3,432,867 - 64,436,757

Liquidity GAP (16,970,189) (1,806,575) (1,084,740) (8,906,860) 25,470,841 9,887,616 - 6,590,093

Cumulative (16,970,189) (18,776,764) (19,861,504) (28,768,364) (3,297,523) 6,590,093 6,590,093 -
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31. FINANCIAL RISK 
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

31. Financial risk management (continued)
(c) Rreziku i likuiditetit (vazhdim)

The Bank’s exposure to the liquidity risk as at 31 December 2014 is presented as follows:

Up to 1 
month

1 to 3 
months

3 to 6 
months

6 to 12 
months

1 to 5 
years

Over 5 
years

Non- 
specific Total

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 2,988,764 - - - - - - 2,988,764

Restricted balances with 
Central Bank

870,441 839,641 908,923 2,721,128 416,655 - - 5,756,788

Loans and advances financial 
institutions

661 1,330 128,765 597,115 459,880 - - 1,187,751

Available-for-sale investments 667,997 1,591,577 2,431,164 5,230,997 7,829,712 2,763,246 - 20,514,693

Loans to customers, net 3,601,511 1,567,232 3,141,615 8,182,289 15,823,609 6,223,533 - 38,539,789

Finance lease receivables 23,216 32,714 47,392 89,382 317,488 5,861 516,053

Totali 8,152,590 4,032,494 6,657,859 16,820,911 24,847,344 8,992,640 69,503,838

Up to 1 
month

1 to 3 
months

3 to 6 
months

6 to 12 
months

1 to 5 
years

Over 5 
years

Non- 
specific Total

Liabilities

Due to financial 
institutions

2,421,500 24,594 128,587 907,474 544,119 - - 4,026,274

Due to customers 18,505,454 6,941,088 7,513,828 22,494,847 3,444,375 - - 58,899,592

20,926,954 6,965,682 7,642,415 23,402,321 3,988,494 - - 62,925,866

Liquidity GAP (12,774,364) (2,933,188) (984,556) (6,581,410) 20,858,850 8,992,640 - 6,577,972

Cumulative (12,774,364) (15,707,552) (16,692,108) (23,273,518) (2,414,668) 6,577,972 6,577,972 -

31. FINANCIAL RISK 
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

31. Financial risk management (continued)
(d) Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rate, equity prices, 
foreign exchange rates and credit spreads (not relating to changes in the obligor’s / issuer’s 
credit standing) will affect the Bank’s income or the value of its holdings of financial 
instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk 
exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return on risk.

Management of market risks

The Bank separates its exposure to market risk between trading and non-trading portfolios. 
Trading portfolios include those positions arising from market-making transactions where 
the Bank acts as principal with clients or with the market, together with financial assets and 
liabilities that are managed on a fair value basis. The foreign exchange position is treated as 
part of the Bank’s trading portfolios for risk management purposes.

Non-trading portfolios primarily arise from the interest rate management of the entity’s retail 
and commercial banking assets and liabilities. Non-trading portfolios also consist of risks 
arising from the Bank’s held-to-maturity and available-for-sale investments.

Overall authority for market risk is vested in ALCO. ALCO is responsible for the development 
of detailed risk management policies and the day-to-day review of their implementation.

Exposure to market risks – trading portfolios

The Bank is exposed to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency exchange 
rates on its financial position and cash flows.  

Exposure to foreign exchange risk

The Bank is exposed to currency risk through transactions in foreign currencies. As the 
currency in which the Bank presents its financial statements is the Albanian Lek, the Bank’s 
financial statements are effected by movements in the exchange rates between the Albanian 
Lek and other currencies.
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Lek EUR USD Other Total

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 551,017 1,184,726 950,352 319,600 3,005,695

Restricted balances with Central Bank 2,716,178 2,601,713 287,239 - 5,605,130

Loans and advances to banks and financial 
institutions

1,212,208 66,453 12,579 - 1,291,240

Available-for-sale investments 16,341,215 3,654,134 - 19,995,349

Loans to customers, net 15,575,460 22,806,594 2,153,996 882 40,536,932

Finance lease receivables 10,852 528,999 52,653 - 592,504

Total 36,406,930 30,842,619 3,456,819 320,482 71,026,850

Liabilities

Due to financial institutions 1,744,532 3,038,556 156,779 305 4,940,172

Due to customers 28,045,726 27,870,140 3,261,805 318,914 59,496,585

Total 29,790,258 30,908,696 3,418,584 319,219 64,436,757

Net position 6,616,672 (66,077) 38,235 1,263 6,590,093

31.FINANCIAL RISK 
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

31. Financial risk management (continued)
(d) Market risk (continued)

The analysis of monetary positions as at 31 December 2015 by currencies in which they 
were denominated is as follows:

31. FINANCIAL RISK 
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Lek EUR USD Other Total

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 518,715 2,133,851 162,037 174,161 2,988,764

Restricted balances with Central Bank 2,821,013 2,649,999 285,776 - 5,756,788

Loans and advances to banks and financial 
institutions

1,051,047 9,951 126,753 - 1,187,751

Available-for-sale investments 17,730,682 2,784,011 - - 20,514,693

Loans to customers, net 14,989,624 20,235,803 3,313,552 810 38,539,789

Finance Lease receivables  15,867 493,644 6,541 516,052

Total 37,126,948 28,307,259 3,894,659 174,971 69,503,837

Liabilities

Due to financial institutions 1,007,705 1,788,591 1,229,825 152 4,026,273

Due to customers 28,998,829 27,110,932 2,615,665 174,166 58,899,592

Total 30,006,534 28,899,523 3,845,490 174,318 62,925,865

Net position 7,120,414 (592,264) 49,169 653 6,577,972

31. Financial risk management (continued)
(d) Market risk (continued)

The analysis of monetary positions as at 31 December 2014 by currencies in which they 
were denominated is as follows:
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31. Financial risk management (continued)
(d) Market risk (continued)

Exposure to interest rate risk – non-trading portfolios

The principal risk to which non-trading portfolios are exposed is the risk of loss from 
fluctuations in the future cash flows or fair values of financial instruments because of a 
change in market interest rates. 

The ALCO defines and reviews the interest rate pricing policy for financial assets and 
liabilities. 

The management of interest rate risk against interest rate gap limits is supplemented by 
monitoring the sensitivity of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities to various standard 
and non-standard interest rate scenarios. Standard scenarios that are considered on a 
monthly basis include a 100 basis point (bp) parallel fall or rise in all yield curves. 

An analysis of the Bank’s sensitivity to an increase or decrease in market interest rates 
(assuming no asymmetrical movement in yield curves and a constant statement of financial 
position) is as follows:
 

31 December  2015 up to 1 Year
scenarios

over 1 Year
Scenarios

100 bp
increase 

100 bp
decrease

100 bp
increase 

100 bp
Decrease

Estimated Profit (loss) effect 15,584 (15,584) 83,705 (83,705)

31 December  2014 up to 1 Year
scenarios

over 1 Year
Scenarios

100 bp
increase 

100 bp
decrease

100 bp
increase 

100 bp
Decrease

Estimated Profit (loss) effect 27,586  (27,586) 14,638  (14,638)

31. FINANCIAL RISK 
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

31. Financial risk management (continued)
(d) Market risk (continued)

The average effective yields of significant categories of financial assets and liabilities of the 
Bank as at 31 December 2015 and 2014 were as follows:

Weighted average
interest rate (Lek)

Weighted average
interest rate (USD)

Weighted average
interest rate (EUR)

31 December 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Restricted balances with Central Bank 1.23% 1.58% - - - -

Loans to financial institutions 3.77% 5.82% 0.25% 0.10% 5.89% 3.94%

Available-for-sale investments 5.44% 5.68% - - 5.04% 6.92%

Loans to customers, net (including finance lease 
receivables)

6.10% 6.96% 5.22% 5.62% 5.27% 5.87%

Liabilities

Due to financial institutions 1.86% 3.06% 0.62% 0.71% 1.47% 3.34%

Due to customers 1.58% 2.00% 0.60% 1.11% 0.56% 1.00%
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Up to 1 
monthj

1 to 3  
months

3 to 6  
months

6 to 12 
months

Over 
1 year

Non- 
interest 
bearing 

Total

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 1,146,295 - - - - 1,859,400 3,005,695

Restricted balances with Central 
Bank 

5,605,130 - - - - - 5,605,130

Loans and advances to financial 
institutions 

90,447 - 2,456 1,161,629 36,708 - 1,291,240

Available – for - sale investments 308,060 2,798,329 3,234,568 3,653,801 10,000,591 - 19,995,349

Loans to cutomers, net 5,313,319 5,157,399 8,398,085 20,155,725 1,501,588 10,816 40,536,932

Finance Lease receivables 59,395 83,520 191,272 258,317 - - 592,504

12,522,646 8,039,248 11,826,381 25,229,472 11,538,887 1,870,216 71,026,850

Liabilities

Due to financial institutions 3,233,745 101,929 184,512 1,413,122 6,864 - 4,940,172

Due to customers 20,701,723 6,579,684 7,949,592 20,840,725 3,424,861 - 59,496,585

23,935,468 6,681,613 8,134,104 22,253,847 3,431,725 - 64,436,757

Gap (11,412,822) 1,357,635 3,692,277 2,975,625 8,107,162 1,870,216 6,590,093

Cumulative gap (11,412,822) (10,055,187) (6,362,910) (3,387,285) 4,719,877 6,590,093 -

31. FINANCIAL RISK 
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

31. Financial risk management (continued)
(d) Market risk (continued)

The Bank’s interest rate re-pricing analysis as at 31 December 2015 is as follows:

31. FINANCIAL RISK 
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

31. Financial risk management (continued)
(d) Market risk (continued)

The Bank’s interest rate re-pricing analysis as at 31 December 2014 is as follows:

Up to 1 
month

1 to 3  
months

3 to 6  
months

6 to 12 
months

Over 
1 year

Non- 
interest 
bearing 

Total

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 696,356 - - - - 2,292,408 2,988,764

Restricted balances with 
Central Bank 

5,756,788 - - - - - 5,756,788

Loans and advances to 
financial institutions 

- - - 596,203 591,548 - 1,187,751

Available – for - sale 
investments 

617,108 3,891,991 3,136,740 7,244,891 5,573,074 50,889 20,514,693

Loans to cutomers, net 3,895,812 4,363,088 7,916,741 21,403,906 785,028 175,215 38,539,789

Finance Lease receivables 11,654 136,728 222,527 139,620 5,524 - 516,053

10,977,718 8,391,807 11,276,008 29,384,620 6,955,174 2,518,512 69,503,838

Liabilities

Due to financial institutions 2,421,413 24,601 128,606 907,623 544,030 - 4,026,273

Due to customers 18,505,454 6,941,088 7,513,828 22,494,847 3,444,375 - 58,899,592

20,926,867 6,965,689 7,642,434 23,402,470 3,988,405 - 62,925,865

Gap (9,949,149) 1,426,118 3,633,574 5,982,150 2,966,768 2,518,512 6,577,973

Cumulative gap (9,949,149) (8,523,031) (4,889,457) 1,092,693 4,059,461 6,577,973 -

31 December  2015 31 December  2014

Increase/
(Decrease) in 
basis points

Sensitivity of 
profit or loss

Sensitivity of 
equity

Sensitivity of 
profit or loss

Sensitivity of 
equity

LEK  +100/(100) 145,155 145,155 139,151 139,151

USD  +100/(100) (21,724) (21,724) (4,989) (4,989)

EURO  +100/(100) (20,749) (20,749) (90,642) (90,642)
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31. FINANCIAL RISK 
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

31. Financial risk management (continued)
(e) Operational risks

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes 
associated with the Bank’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from 
external factors other than credit, market and liquidity risks such as those arising from legal 
and regulatory requirements and generally accepted standards of corporate behaviour. 
Operational risks arise from all of the Bank’s operations and are faced by all business 
entities.

The Bank’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of 
financial losses and damage to the Bank’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to 
avoid control procedures that restrict initiative and creativity.

The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to 
address operational risk is assigned to senior management within each business unit. 
This responsibility is supported by the development of overall Bank standards for the 
management of operational risk in the following areas:

 • requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent  
    authorisation of transactions;
 • requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions;
 • compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements;
 • documentation of controls and procedures;
 • requirements for the periodic assessment of operational risks faced, and the  
    adequacy of controls and procedures to address the risks identified;
 • requirements for the reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial  
    action;
 • development of contingency plans;
 • training and professional development;
 • ethical and business standards; and
 • risk mitigation, including insurance where this is effective.

Compliance with Bank standards is supported by a programme of periodic reviews 
undertaken by specific operational risk structures as well as Internal Audit.  

(f) Capital management 

Regulatory capital
The Bank’s regulator Central Bank sets and monitors capital requirements. In implementing 
current capital requirements, the Bank is required to maintain a minimum prescribed ratio of 
12% of the total capital to total risk-weighted assets. Risk-weighted assets are determined 
according to specified requirements that seek to reflect the varying levels of risk attached 
to assets and off-balance sheet exposures.

31. FINANCIAL RISK 
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

The Bank calculates requirements for credit risk for its exposures based on capital adequacy 
regulations established by the Central Bank. Exposures are taken into account using the 
amounts as of statement of financial position. Off-balance-sheet credit related commitments 
are taken into account by applying different categories of conversion factors, designed to 
convert these items into statement of financial position equivalents. The resulting equivalent 
amounts are then weighted for risk using different percentages (0%, 20%, 50%, 100%, and 
150%) depending on the class of exposure.
 
 
31. Financial risk management (continued)
(e) Capital management (continued)

Various credit risk mitigation techniques are used, for example collateralized transactions 
and guarantees. The Bank’s regulatory capital is analysed into two tiers:

Tier 1 capital (core capital), which includes ordinary share capital, share premium, statutory 
reserve, other general reserves, retained earnings from prior years and minority interests 
after deductions for goodwill, intangible assets and unrealized loss from available for sale 
investments.

Tier 2 capital (supplementary capital), which includes qualifying subordinated liabilities, 
namely perpetual debt and subordinated term debt.

The following limits are applied to elements of the capital base: Qualifying tier 2 capital 
cannot exceed tier 1 capital; and qualifying term subordinated loan capital may not exceed 
50 percent of tier 1 capital. The Bank’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to 
maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future development of the 
business. The impact of the level of capital on shareholders’ return is also recognized and 
the Bank recognizes the need to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might 
be possible with greater gearing and the advantages and security afforded by a sound 
capital position.

As of 31 December 2015 the bank’s capital adequacy ratio was 15.59% (31 December 
2014: 14.96%). 
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31 December 2015  31 December 2014

Base capital

Subscribed capital 6,740,900 6,740,900

Share premium 1,750 1,750

General Reserve 4,618 4,618

Profit/(loss) of current year

Losses of prior years (390,446) (346,409)

Credit/(Debit) revaluation differences 2,862 2,864

Intangible fixed assets (240,132) (223,666)

Other regulatory requests - (13,152)

6,119,552        6,166,905 

Additional capital

Time subordinated liabilities - -

Total regulatory capital 6,119,552        6,166,905 

Risk-weighted assets Credit Risk          39,260,896       41,219,302 

Market Risk

Operational Risk                  2,610                    -   

Total          39,263,506       41,219,302 

Capital adequacy ratio 15.59% 14.96%

Minimum required capital adequacy ratio 12.00% 12.00%

31. FINANCIAL RISK 
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

31. Financial risk management (continued)
(e)  Capital management (continued)
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